
WILSONVILLE CITY HALL
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL A

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2015 - 6:30 P.M.
Call To Order:

Chairman's Remarks:

Roll Call:

Mary Fierros Bower Kristin Akervall
Lenka Keith James Frinell
Ronald Heberlein Council Liaison Julie Fitzgerald 

Citizen's Input:

City Council Liaison's Report:

Consent Agenda:

A. Approval of minutes of July 13, 2015 DRB Panel A meeting

July 13 2015 Minutes.pdf

Public Hearing:

A. Resolution No. 312.
Republic Services CNG Fueling Station:  Mr. Eric Anderson, Republic Services -
Applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision, 
Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review and Type C Tree Removal Plan for the Republic 
Services property located at 10295 SW Ridder Road, to develop a compressed natural 
gas (CNG) fueling station. The site is located on Tax Lot 1400 Section 2C, Township 3 
South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, City of Wilsonville, Washington County, 
Oregon. Staff:  Blaise Edmonds

Case Files: DB15-0051       Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan
DB15-0052       Revised Stage II Final Plan, Phase 2
DB15-0053       Site Design Review, Phase 2
DB15-0057       Type C Tree Plan

Republic SR.Exhibits.pdf, Exhibit B1.pdf, Exhibit B2.pdf

Board Member Communications:

A. Results of the July 27, 2015 DRB Panel B meeting

DRB-B July 27 2015 Results.pdf

B. Results of the August 24, 2015 DRB Panel B meeting

DRB-B August 24, 2015 Results.pdf

C. Discussion topic: Paperless staff reports, exhibits and application notebook 
materials

Staff Communications

Adjournment

Assistive Listening Devices (ALD) are available for persons with impaired hearing and can be scheduled for 
this meeting.  The City will also endeavor to provide the following services, without cost, if requested at least 

48 hours prior to the meeting.

l Qualified sign language interpreters for persons with speech or hearing impairments.

l Qualified bilingual interpreters.

l To obtain such services, please call the Planning Assistant at 503 682-4960

I.

II.

III.

IV.

V.

VI.

Documents:

VII.

Documents:

VIII.

Documents:

Documents:

IX.

X.



WILSONVILLE CITY HALL
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL A

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2015 - 6:30 P.M.
Call To Order:

Chairman's Remarks:

Roll Call:

Mary Fierros Bower Kristin Akervall
Lenka Keith James Frinell
Ronald Heberlein Council Liaison Julie Fitzgerald 

Citizen's Input:

City Council Liaison's Report:

Consent Agenda:

A. Approval of minutes of July 13, 2015 DRB Panel A meeting

July 13 2015 Minutes.pdf

Public Hearing:

A. Resolution No. 312.
Republic Services CNG Fueling Station:  Mr. Eric Anderson, Republic Services -
Applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision, 
Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review and Type C Tree Removal Plan for the Republic 
Services property located at 10295 SW Ridder Road, to develop a compressed natural 
gas (CNG) fueling station. The site is located on Tax Lot 1400 Section 2C, Township 3 
South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, City of Wilsonville, Washington County, 
Oregon. Staff:  Blaise Edmonds

Case Files: DB15-0051       Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan
DB15-0052       Revised Stage II Final Plan, Phase 2
DB15-0053       Site Design Review, Phase 2
DB15-0057       Type C Tree Plan

Republic SR.Exhibits.pdf, Exhibit B1.pdf, Exhibit B2.pdf

Board Member Communications:

A. Results of the July 27, 2015 DRB Panel B meeting

DRB-B July 27 2015 Results.pdf

B. Results of the August 24, 2015 DRB Panel B meeting

DRB-B August 24, 2015 Results.pdf

C. Discussion topic: Paperless staff reports, exhibits and application notebook 
materials

Staff Communications

Adjournment

Assistive Listening Devices (ALD) are available for persons with impaired hearing and can be scheduled for 
this meeting.  The City will also endeavor to provide the following services, without cost, if requested at least 

48 hours prior to the meeting.

l Qualified sign language interpreters for persons with speech or hearing impairments.

l Qualified bilingual interpreters.

l To obtain such services, please call the Planning Assistant at 503 682-4960

I.

II.

III.

IV.

V.

VI.

Documents:

VII.

Documents:

VIII.

Documents:

Documents:

IX.

X.

http://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/80a228d8-fd74-434e-9d77-14eb4d21da18


DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2015 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 

VI. Consent Agenda: 
A. Approval of minutes from July 13, 2015 DRB Panel A 

meeting 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 1 of 21  

Wilsonville City Hall 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
Wilsonville, Oregon 
 
Development Review Board – Panel A 
Minutes–July 13, 2015   6:30 PM 
 
I. Call to Order 
Chair Mary Fierros Bower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 
II. Chair’s Remarks 
The Conduct of Hearing and Statement of Public Notice were read into the record. 
 
III. Roll Call 
Present for roll call were:   Mary Fierros Bower, Lenka Keith, Kristin Akervall, James Frinell, and Ronald 

Heberlein. City Council Liaison Julie Fitzgerald was absent. 
 
Staff present:  Blaise Edmonds, Barbara Jacobson, Steve Adams, and Michael Wheeler  
 
IV. Citizens’ Input This is an opportunity for visitors to address the Development Review Board on 
items not on the agenda.  There were no comments. 
 
V. City Council Liaison Report 
No City Council report was given due to Councilor Fitzgerald’s absence. 
 
VI. Consent Agenda: 

A. Approval of minutes of May 11, 2015 DRB Panel A meeting 
Lenka Keith moved to approve the May 11, 2015 DRB Panel A meeting minutes as presented. 
James Frinell seconded the motion, which passed 4 to 0 to 1 with Ronald Heberlein abstaining. 
 
VII. Public Hearing: 

A. Resolution No. 306.  Villebois PDP6 Central Row Homes:  Polygon WLH, LLC– 
Applicant for RCS-Villebois Development LLC – Owner.  The applicant is requesting 
approval of a Zone Map Amendment from Public Facility (PF) Zone to Village (V) Zone, 
Specific Area Plan – Central Refinements, Preliminary Development Plan, Tentative 
Subdivision Plat, Type ‘C’ Tree Plan and Final Development Plan for the development of 
31 row houses in Phase 6 of SAP-Central. The subject property is located on Tax Lot 3500 
of Section 15AC, T3S, R1W, Clackamas County, Oregon.  Staff:  Michael Wheeler 
 
Case Files:   DB15-0011 Villebois SAP Central Refinement 

    DB15-0012 Preliminary Development Plan (PDP-6C Row Homes)  
   DB15-0013 Zone Map Amendment 
   DB15-0014 Tentative Subdivision Plat 
   DB15-0015 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan  
   DB15-0016 PDP-6C Final Development Plan  
 
The DRB action on the Zone Map Amendment is a recommendation to the City Council. 

 
Chair Fierros Bower called the public hearing to order at 6:35 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing 
format into the record. All Board members declared for the record that they had visited the site. No board 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 2 of 21  

member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site visit. No board member 
participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 
Michael Wheeler, Associate Planner, announced that the criteria applicable to the application were 
stated on page 4 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the report were made 
available to the side of the room.  
 
Mr. Wheeler presented the Staff report via PowerPoint, briefly reviewing the site’s history, location, 
surrounding features, and parcels in the vicinity.  He reviewed the Applicant’s proposed requests, which 
had very few issues, with these key additional comments: 
• The project site was approximately 1.5 acres and located at the intersection of Costa Circle West and 

Orleans Ave. 
• He reviewed several of the Applicant’s graphic exhibits, noting that his PowerPoint did not include 

all that were presented in the Staff report as part of the record. The entire list of exhibits was noted in 
the table on Pages 18 and 19 of the Staff report.  
• Slide 9 showing the 1.52-acre parcel proposed for development of homes on the lots that would 

be created. 
• Existing Conditions showed the existing drainage and locations of the Good and Moderate trees, 

most of which were proposed for removal. (Slide 10) The Site Plan (Sheet 3) showed 31 lots, 
where seven buildings would be placed.  

• Preliminary Plat would result in an actual subdivision being created with easements for public 
utilities along the edges of the lots and included creation of a tract for the alleys, and three other 
tracts for the landscape components that were not on individual lots. (Slide 12) 

• Grading and Erosion Control Plan for the site showed the two remaining trees following the 
removal of the 15 others and then staging at two locations for equipment and materials during 
construction. (Slide 13) 

• Deposit Utility Plan showed water, sewer, and storm drainage at locations throughout site. (Slide 
14)  

• The Circulation Plan included the streets that would be built along the west and south of the 
development, as well as the alleys for eternal circulation. The streets along the north and east 
were already in place.   

• Tree Preservation Plan indicated the trees being removed and the one Moderate tree and one 
Good tree that would remain; one in a tract and the other in a front yard of a dwelling. 

• The phasing had been adjusted slightly in past and the SAP Central Phasing Plan Update (Slide 
17) reflected the phasing change that occurred in a recent approval. Phase 6 was at the north end 
of SAP Central. 

• Street Tree Plan showed trees planted along the perimeter of the entire site in the public rights-of-
way, except where feature would prevent that from occurring.  

• The Villebois SAP Central Refinement involved two refinements.  
• One refinement was for a change of use type to convert the Village Apartments (VA) on the bulk 

of the property, as shown on the Phasing Plan (Slide 17), entirely to row houses, building them 
along the perimeter of the site along the streets, with building being centrally located in order to 
preserve the singular, moderately healthy tree. 
• The range of approved uses was 32 to 48 units, and the Applicant proposed 31 dwelling units, 

which was less than 1 percent and within the range of allowed refinements allowed in the 
Code for Villebois. 

• The second refinement request regarded the Rainwater Management Plan, which currently 
identified ten on-site or adjacent off-site facilities intended to benefit the site. The Applicant 
proposed building four on-site and two off-site facilities, which still complied with the treatment 
requirement.  
 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 3 of 21  

• He reviewed several graphics showing the drainage for the site and the locations of the previously 
approved rainwater facilities as well as the facilities the Applicant now proposed, which still 
resulted in the project complying with the 72 percent treatment component approved [inaudible]  

• The proposed Zone Map Amendment would change the zone from the existing Public Facilities (PF) 
zone, a remnant of when the site was the Dammasch State Hospital, to the Village Zone (V), the same 
zone to which all the surrounding existing parcels had been changed. 

• Final Development Plan (FDP) primarily regarded landscaping, but also included the architecture of 
the proposed seven buildings. Slide 31 identified the three tracts to be landscaped, and the Building 
Site Plan indicated the layout of the seven buildings. Three buildings had five units and the remaining 
four buildings had four units each. 
• The specifications on Sheet L1, the Planting Plan, were in addition to those of the Street Tree 

Planting Plan. 
• He reviewed the proposed building elevations and floor plans, which were found to be in 

compliance with the Village Center Architectural Standards expressed both in booklet form, 
beginning on Page 63 of 94 of the Staff report, and in a checklist table format (Page 71 of 94). 
The two proposed building designs were reviewed by Architect Steve Coyle, the project reviewer, 
and were found to comply with the architectural styles available for use in the Village Center. 
• The English Revival design featured individual sheltered entries, architecturally accurate 

glazing with divided-light windows, and the English Tudor exterior treatments of masonry 
and wood trim. The color and materials layout was illustrated. The appearance of the 
balconies or decks, which covered a portion of the drive-in entry to the garages on the rear 
elevation, was not regulated. (Slides 36 through 39) 

• The French Revival design was similar to the English Revival, but had more articulation at 
the roof elevations and entries, and shutters were used to accentuate the larger format 
windows. The color palette was slightly different from the English Revival, but rear balconies 
or decks were prominent and included for each unit. (Slides 40 through 43) 

• The Applicant’s initially submitted materials did not include the English or French Revival 
elevations showing the 5-plex structure, but elevations were submitted showing that the fifth 
unit could be added without the building suffering a lack of symmetry. 

• Staff recommended an approval of all six requests with the conditions found on Pages 5 through 
17 of the Staff report. Comments had been assembled from Engineering Division, Building 
Division, and Planning Division. He noted that the Zone Map Amendment be forwarded to the 
City Council for their review at a public hearing that had already been publicized. 

 
Kristen Akervall referenced Tab 11C Utility Drainage Report in the binder and asked how many gallons 
per minute were being drained in different areas.  
 
Mr. Wheeler deferred to the Applicant or the Applicant’s engineer.  
 
Ms. Akervall noted the proposed removal of Tree 556, a deciduous tree at the corner of Costa Circle and 
Orleans Ave, and expressed concern about losing such a large tree. Looking at the layout of the units, she 
was unsure if the tree could be retained, but she asked if Staff had discussed or was concerned about 
keeping Tree 556, which was identified as being in Moderate condition. She understood it was in a 
difficult location, being right in the middle of the second unit of a five-unit building.  
 
Mr. Wheeler replied that the arborist’s report detailed the health, condition, and impact to the tree of the 
proposed development. Staff had no discussions about the tree and there was no push back for the 
Applicant to save more trees. Villebois had done a wonderful job protecting as many trees as possible as 
well as the mitigation done after the fact. Sheet L1, the Planting Plan showed the mitigation, which 
included street trees along all sides of the site, as well as the replanting in the open space tract where the 
large, moderate tree was being retained. He was concerned about the ability to save the Good tree on the 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 4 of 21  

south edge, but it was proposed to be retained. The arborist’s would offer their professional consultation 
during construction and grading to ensure as much protection as necessary to keep the tree. If the tree did 
die at some point in time, it would have to be replaced in a one-to-one mitigation. He suggested asking 
the Applicant about any measures considered to preserve Tree 556. 
 
Ronald Heberlein noted he had not seen a map that identified where the different building elevations 
would go.  
 
Mr. Wheeler responded he would leave that for the Applicant to describe, but noted there was a lot of 
flexibility in the Code and Architectural Standards that would enable the Applicant to alternate the 
building designs or have them be all the same along a street. It would be a different case if these were 
single-family homes subject to the Architectural Pattern Book, where constant alternatives that needed to 
be met, so nothing looked the same as the neighbor across the street.  
 
Lenka Keith asked how far the tulip trees proposed to be planted as street trees along Costa Circle were 
from the buildings, as they could grow quite tall and large. She asked if there was any legal room 
flexibility as far as the type of trees to be planted. 
 
Mr. Wheeler replied the trees were specified in a plan component of the Community Elements Book and 
were chosen because of that scheme. Changing the type of trees would require modifying the Community 
Elements Book of SAP-Central. As noted on the Planting Plan, Sheet L1, the trunk centers of the street 
trees were estimated to be at least 25 ft, from the edge of the proposed buildings. The trees were planted 
in a street side median with the sidewalk and landscaping between the tulip trees and buildings.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower asked if the two-way traffic on the internal alleyways would be controlled via stop 
signs or other mechanisms.  
 
Mr. Wheeler replied that he doubted the 16-ft wide alleyways would have stop signs because vehicle 
movement was subject to Oregon Motor Vehicle Laws, which would govern those intersections.   
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed there was no further questions and called for the Applicant’s 
presentation. 
 
Fred Gast, Polygon Northwest, 109 E 13th St, Vancouver, WA 98660, thanked Staff for doing a 
wonderful job on the report. He noted Staff was very engaging to work with and Polygon was happy to 
have this relationship with both the Staff and City for an extended period of time.  
• He reflected that five years ago, during the worst of times, Polygon began developing in Villebois to 

try to restart the community and had been rewarded for taking that risk with an ability to continue to 
develop in the neighborhood. Polygon first product was one home style they believed could sell in a 
very deep recession with the notion of being able to add and expand the number of home types as 
times improved to address the diversity objective in Villebois. Polygon went from having one basic 
price point home style in Villebois to six today from the low $200,000s to the low $600,000s. 
Polygon intended to add more housing types at Villebois this year, including two master on the main 
plans. Next year, an even higher price point would be added into the $700,000s with much bigger, 
expansive homes. In dealing with what was intended for Villebois all along, Polygon had certainly 
gone through the worst of times and now hoped to have an extended run in this economy to be able to 
answer that diversity question that Villebois had always promised. Polygon was proud to have been 
here through all of that and was honored to continue to expand the number of opportunities available 
in the community.  

• During that time, Polygon had also expanded the open space and park system by completing two 
regional park segments and created/preserved a significant natural area for the trees.  Trees were a 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 5 of 21  

jewel to have in any community and the natural area was also being enhanced with another 
recreational opportunity called active play. This year, Polygon hoped to expand the regional park 
system further. Polygon’s customers have said that parks were what make Villebois a special place, 
and it was a joy to be able to build that type of infrastructure for the community.  
• Polygon also continued to advance transportation infrastructure for the community, including the 

recent completion of another extension of Grahams Ferry Rd, as well as Villebois Dr which 
included a roundabout in the extension to the north.  

• The market conditions had put Polygon in a position to be able to come forward tonight with a series 
of applications to help enhance the number of home styles in Villebois, specifically at the town home 
price point. Though one was proposed in this application, a total of three were intended for Villebois. 
The market depth was at a place where single-family homes had reached a price point where 
expanding the number of options for attached products needed to be considered. Many single-family 
detached opportunities had been provided along the edges of Villebois, so now Polygon was before 
the Board to discuss expanding the number of attached, for sale, owner-occupied options in Villebois.  

• He presented a four-slide PowerPoint, noting that the SAP Central Comparison - Land Use Plan 
showed how a site initially designated for townhomes (i.e. row homes) and village apartments would 
look like as a town home community, essentially switching from a rental component to an all for-sale 
component.  

• With regard to what elevations would be different, he displayed the Site Map for Villebois PDP 6C 
and indicated where the English Revival and French Revival Elevations would be located on the site.  
 

Ms. Akervall confirmed that the building elevations along Costa Circle, from left to right on the 
displayed slide (Slide 3), were French Revival and then two English Revival buildings, and that the style 
of home directly across SW Orleans Ave was the French Revival. She asked about the significantly large 
tree proposed for removal, noting that the much smaller tree was the one being retained.  
 
Mr. Gast replied balancing competing issues was always a concern. He explained that tree was 
something he identified early on as a nice statement for the corner, but without having a real sense of 
scale and how it would play into the rest of the site plan. However, a decision had to be made based on 
how it impacted the plan or how the plan could make it an amenity. After much thought and consideration 
of other trees Polygon had preserved in Villebois, as well as the different caliper and gradation of trees in 
Villebois, the decision was made to remove the tree in favor of the home. If the tree had been in a slightly 
different location, the Applicant could have dropped one unit and retained the tree, which would have 
been a nice statement, but it did not work out. 
 
Ms. Akervall asked if a three-unit building might be considered, where the Applicant would lose two 
units instead of one.  
 
Mr. Gast explained that according to the value calculation, which calculated the value of the units versus 
the value of the tree as an amenity for the neighborhood, saving the tree did not work out.  If there were a 
grove of trees or a massive or significant White Oak, Polygon would have looked at it differently, as had 
been done in the past. 
 
Ms. Akervall asked about the Applicant’s confidence level for retaining the cedar tree located in one of 
the front yards as it looked very close to the sidewalk and street. 
 
Mr. Gast replied that Polygon was very confident about saving the tree. He noted their arborist’s 
direction was followed very closely and she had a realistic view about being able to preserve the tree in 
the context of the development. She had worked in and around the trees in Villebois for more than five 
years and had been right every time. Polygon had asked and she confirmed that saving the tree was worth 
pursuing, which was why it was in the plan.  



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 6 of 21  

 
Ms. Akervall asked about sewer as it related to 11C Utility and Drainage Report in the binder. Several 
pages discussed the number of gallons per minute for the different areas, which ranged from the 20 to 70 
gallons. She noted Area 5 was more than 200 gallons per minute and asked what that meant and if that 
was a concern. 
 
Jim Lange, Pacific Community Design, 12564 SW Main Street, Tigard, OR, believed it was about an 
order of magnitude. He explained 1 cu ft per second was expected on a fairly flat, 8-in pipe and 1 cu ft per 
second equated to about 448 gallons per minute. An 8-in pipe at a fairly flat grade could handle 450 
gallons per minute, so at 200 gallons a minute, the pipe was less than half-full. He confirmed that amount 
was not concerning, and explained that Area 5 had so much more because the network system branched 
out. Pipe size did not change because the minimum size was 8 in, so many 8-in pipes had very little flow 
in them; however, a smaller pipe could not be used due to maintenance reasons. The order of magnitude 
given 350 to 500 homes would exceed an 8-in pipe. He confirmed the variance was because the other 
areas were so far under the threshold.  
 
Ronald Heberlein asked about the process for determining tree spacing, specifically on the road, and 
whether the tree spacing was adequate for the type of tree being installed.  
 
Mr. Lange replied that in 2003 or 2004, part of the SAP approvals included the Community Elements 
Book, an attachment document that addressed trees, street furniture, signage, etc. In the SAP approval 
process, decisions about spacing and type of tree were designated for the whole community. He 
confirmed the trees proposed for planting followed the guidelines set forth for spacing and were adequate 
for the life of the trees. He added that in that earlier process, there City standards were already in place 
regarding a certain groups of trees that were allowed with certain spacing, which was all factored in and 
tailored specifically for Villebois.  
 
There were no further questions for the Applicant.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for public testimony in favor of, opposed, and neutral to the application. 
There was none.  
 
Mr. Lange apologized for not getting some information on the record. He distributed copies of the 
documentation from Steve Coyle approving the architecture regarding DB1500011 et seq (PDP-6C) dated 
July 4 2015.  
 
Mr. Wheeler entered the exhibit into the record as Exhibit B3, noting it would follow the table showing 
the plan drawings as supplemental information. He explained that he had been informed via email about 
the document and incorporated it in case it was discussed. Staff wanted to ensure that the architectural 
design in the record had been viewed by the City’s consultant and was in compliance. He had been 
concerned about some early tweaks, but the consultant’s submitted material confirmed that they were 
okay. 
 
Mr. Heberlein noted that Mr. Coyle’s email did not include T-14, which was included in Staff report. 
 
Mr. Wheeler confirmed that Mr. Coyle did not approve floor plans, which was why neither set of floor 
plans were listed in Exhibit B3. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed there was no further discussion and closed the public hearing at 7:25 
pm. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 7 of 21  

Ronald Heberlein moved to approve Resolution No. 306. Lenka Keith seconded the motion, which 
was unanimously approved. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower read the rules of appeal into the record. 
 

B. Resolution No. 307.  Villebois PDP-7 Central Row Homes:  Polygon WLH, LLC– 
Applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Zone Map Amendment from Public 
Facility (PF) Zone to Village (V) Zone, Specific Area Plan – Central refinements, 
Preliminary Development Plan, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Final Development Plan and 
Type ‘C’ Tree Removal and Preservation Plan for the development of row houses in Phase 
7 of SAP-Central. The subject property is located on Tax Lot 2700 of Section 15AC, T3S, 
R1W, Clackamas County, Oregon.  Staff:  Blaise Edmonds 

 
Case Files:   DB15-0029 Villebois SAP Central Preliminary Development Plan  
     (PDP-7C Row Homes)  
   DB15-0030 Zone Map Amendment 
   DB15-0031 Tentative Subdivision Plat 
   DB15-0033 PDP-7C Final Development Plan 
   DB15-0034 SAP Refinements 
   DB15-0035 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan  
 
The DRB action on the Zone Map Amendment is a recommendation to the City Council. 

 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called the public hearing to order at 7:27 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing 
format into the record. All Board members declared for the record that they had visited the site. No board 
member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site visit. No board member 
participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 
Blaise Edmonds, Manager of Current Planning, announced that the criteria applicable to the 
application were stated on page 5 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the 
report were made available to the side of the room.  
 
Mr. Edmonds stated he had emailed a revised Staff report that included minor edits to the Board 
members last week. He distributed paper copies to the Board and reviewed the revisions in Revised 
Exhibit A1, which was entered into the record. He presented the Staff report via PowerPoint, noting the 
project’s location, its proposed streets and surrounding features, and describing the proposed applications 
with these key comments:   
• He believed Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) 7 Central was the most exciting part of Villebois, 

and noted it had application requests very similar to what was just presented for PDP 6 Central. The 
Board would be considering a Villebois Central PDP for 68 row homes, and one parcel not part of the 
Final Development Plan (FDP) or PDP that was located in the southwest corner and planned for a 
future mixed-use building, which would come under a separate application. 

• An aerial photograph was displayed showing the Piazza in the heart of the Village Center that had 
unique textures, pervious paver bricks, and was designed for events. Over time, there would be a 
more critical mass of development around the Piazza with a lot of energy being generated from the 
Piazza and people spilling out onto SW Mont Blanc, Villebois Dr North, and the other streets, making 
the location of the subject property unique. 

• The Zone Map Amendment would change the Public Facilities Zone to a Village Zone, because the 
approximately 3.4 gross acre site used to be part of the old Dammasch Hospital facilities.  



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 8 of 21  

• The Site Land Use Plan (Slide 7) illustrated the location of the Brownstone units along the Woonerf, 
as well as the location of the London style units, which were also located in the core area of Villebois. 

• The Applicant proposed a refinement to replace part of Ravenna St with a linear park that would be 
wide enough for pedestrians and bicycles with concrete panels, benches, and some landscaping. The 
linear park was intended to be a pedestrian corridor so bollards would be placed at its entrances from 
the alleys and public streets to prevent cars from driving on it.  
• He understood that once built, the remaining part of SW Ravenna Lp would be renamed SW Paris 

Street.  
• Mont Blanc St was a private street that would have paver bricks as part of the Woonerf design. 

• The Circulation Plan and Street Sections (Sheet 7, Slide 8) identified the different street profiles, 
which were all approved under the Circulation Plan for SAP Central. 

• The Preliminary Plat (Slide 9) showed the lots of varying widths. The 68 units were for sale units, not 
rentals, and would be in nine buildings. 

• The FDP (Slide 10) showed the Address Streets extending off the Piazza, previously named The 
Plaza. The Woonerf and Villebois Drive were the two Address Streets being considered tonight. He 
noted the Courtyard had not been seen yet, but some of the Barber Residential had been reviewed, 
including the Seville and other row houses built along Barber Street. The Linear Green included the 
offices and row houses under construction. Each Address Street had a different set of design criteria 
that determined the design outcome of that site plan. 
• He read the definition of a Woonerf which was intended to make people first and cars second. 

Driving through the area would be slow and gentle. (Slide 11) 
• The displayed image would be similar to what would be seen in Villebois. Though no towers 

were in Villebois, there would be curbless sidewalks and room to spill out on to the street if there 
was a big event at the Piazza, as well as bollards, brick, street furniture, lighting, benches, all of 
which followed the Community Elements Book approved in the SAP. It would be a really 
exciting place and the architecture had to reflect that street in terms of the building design and 
how to compress close to the street to give that energy. 

• He reviewed the building elevations of the Brownstone units proposed along the Woonerf, as well 
as the London style homes, noting the truly unique designs might be seen in the older areas of 
Boston and Philadelphia. Features included steps up to the unit, planter boxes, and courtyards in 
front of doubles doors big enough for a café table and a couple of chairs.  
• The facades of the buildings would face the street. The public space where people could 

congregate along the Woonerf would transition to the semi-public space of the little 
courtyards, and then ultimately to the private realm of houses. These elements made older 
neighborhoods so unique and were also captured in this particular project.  

• The rear elevations had balconies to provide some private, outdoor recreation space. 
• The Applicant worked hard with the consulting architect, Steve Coyle, who reviewed the 

designs of the homes in great detail and the Applicant had achieved an excellent design. 
• A number of the buildings would be in close proximity to each other, so the enhanced side 

elevations included grid in the windows, window trim, and wrapping the brick around the 
building to reflect the brick in front. Brick was not generally required on all sides of the 
buildings, but that was the architectural standards for the Woonerf and SW Villibois Drive  
North.  

• The Applicant had carefully thought out how Mont Blanc, the Woonerf Street, would be 
constructed. The Layout Plan (Slide 18) detailed the pavers that would be used for the Woonerf 
block 

• He displayed the Landscape Plan and the cut sheet from the Community Elements Book (Slide 20) 
that showed the waste paper baskets, bicycle racks, bollards, benches, light poles, etc. that would be 
incorporated into the street. 

• The proposal included five SAP Refinements, which he described with these key comments. 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 9 of 21  

• Street Network.  As mentioned, a segment of SW Ravenna Lp would be replaced with the linear 
bicycle/pedestrian park, which Staff supported.  

• Parks, Trails and Open Space. The Applicant was creating a park, which was different from the 
original SAP Plan.  The green areas shown on Slide 23 were open space, hardscape, and 
landscape which denoted a common area. 

• Location and Mix of Land Uses. Proposed was replacing 24 urban apartments with for sale units, 
for a total of 68 row houses, which was acceptable for that residential group in SAP Central.  

• Housing Density. This density number had fluctuated back and forth over time, dropping and 
increasing by one or two units. The proposed refinement would slightly increase the housing 
density by 1.3 percent. 

• Rainwater – Removal of Pervious Pavers on Villebois Dr North. The Rainwater Management 
Plan Figure A for SAP Central showed Villebois Dr North as a public street with the existing 
pervious pavers next to the Piazza continued all the way up to Paris St. The Applicant proposed 
replacing the pervious brick street with more rainwater management facilities along the street. 
With the Applicant’s revised Rainwater Management Plan, 80 percent of the water from the site 
would be handled by rainwater components. 
• Staff proposed that not all of the area shown in blue be replaced, but that a segment still 

continue up through the frontage of Lot 42, which was the proposed future mixed use lot. 
Reading the intent of the Villebois Address, it made sense for those houses along the street 
because it was a transitional area of residential to the urban feel of the Piazza.  
• He noted where residential flanked both sides of Villebois Dr N, adding he agreed 

replacing that portion would be a logical refinement, but once the street reached the 
frontage of a mixed-use type of building, it made sense that the subject portion should be 
a continuance of the Piazza to frame that corner and make the transition to the urban 
street of the Piazza. 

• Current photos of the corner of Villebois Dr N and Mont Blanc were displayed. (Slides 28 
and 29) He noted the Pin Oak was proposed to be retained on the corner, and indicated how 
Mont Blanc St, the Woonerf, would veer off and where the Piazza treatment could continue 
on a bit of frontage. Staff recommended that maintaining that paver brick appearance in front 
of Lot 42 seemed to be the logical terminus of that type of street treatment. 

• Staff recommended approval of the entire application, noting the Zone Map Amendment would 
be forwarded to City Council for approval, upon which the companion applications were 
contingent. The application was scheduled for City Council on August 3, 2015. 

 
Kristin Akervall asked why not take the pavers clear to Ravenna Loop. 
 
Mr. Edmonds referenced Page 4 of 88 of Revised Exhibit A1, stating it was the tone of a more urban 
experience and vision by the Villebois Drive Address. He believed the tone was the frontage of Lot 42 
while the balance of Villebois Dr North appeared to be more residential in character and was uniquely 
different. He indicated an alley that made that break from Lot 42 to the actual row houses, which made a 
nice finish point for that street. 
 
Ms. Akervall added that at the seam, the Applicant might put large, concrete areas similar to when the 
pavers were started. 
 
Mr. Edmonds responded the Applicant had not submitted a design as he had thrown them a curve ball, 
but some fine transition would make sense so it did not look like too much of a break.  
 
Ronald Heberlein stated there was no crosswalk there, it was just an alley and not a continuation of 
anything that seemed logical to have the pavers stop there, whereas if it was continued up to what would 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 10 of 21  

now be Paris St, at least presumably, there would be a crosswalk or a good break point for the pavers to 
transition to standard asphalt. 
 
Mr. Edmonds noted the Rainwater Management Plan showed the pavers extending all the way up SW 
Villebois Drive North, but the SAP Central Map showed it ending short of proposed Lot 42. Thus, these 
are conflicting maps in SAP Central. The SAP Central Map showed the pavers stopping where he 
believed the Applicant wanted them to stop, which was where it was currently built. 
• He clarified that he was proposing that the pavers extend the width of the street, although the blue 

highlight on the Rainwater Management Plan (Slide 26) only indicated pavers on half of the street. 
• He indicated where the Brownstone and London style homes were proposed along the streets. (Slide 

7) and confirmed that currently, vacant land sat across the street from the London style homes on 
Villebois Dr. The vacant land was for future development but had not yet been designed. There were 
apartments to the south of the site, but he could not recall what was on the east side.  

• He displayed the SAP Central Phasing Plan (Sheet 9, Slide 5), noting that specialty condominiums, 
urban apartments, and mixed use buildings, which would potentially have lower floor commercial and 
upper floor residential, were proposed for the areas north of the site, across Villebois Dr. He also 
noted the location of Montague Park, previously called Hilltop Park. 

 
Chair Fierros Bower suggested extending the pavers to the division line of PDP-14, because that was 
also mixed use, and then Lot 42 of Phase 7 should align with PDP-14.  
 
Mr. Edmonds added PDP-8 was subject to change. It was a developing master plan that depended on the 
marketplace and conditions in one to four years. He believed once the subject row houses were built and 
infill occurred, it would create synergy. If the marketplace was good, the area would build out faster. 
 
Mr. Heberlein asked if PDP-10 could possibly be changed from condos to mixed use in the future. 
 
Mr. Edmonds replied Mr. Kadlub, the original master planner for Villebois, might have some insight on 
that, but from his discussions with the Applicant, it had been difficult to get people to develop in the 
Village Center. People had been looking at different kinds of product types and uses, so there was the 
potential for a change to the master plan. 
 
James Frinell confirmed vehicles could drive on the Woonerf and asked how vehicle speeds would be 
managed. 
 
Mr. Edmonds replied people would drive slower through there due to the narrower street. It would be a 
very unique street; it was not a wide street that would encourage faster driving, but compressed, so people 
would move at a very slow pace. Parking would be restricted and there would be no bike lanes. Bicyclists 
and pedestrians could walk down the middle of it if they chose. This particular street was a unique 
concept that was currently nowhere in Wilsonville. The concept had been successful in the Netherlands 
and other places, so he believed it was a good solution for traffic calming and making Mont Blanc a 
pedestrian street. 
• He confirmed the Woonerf concept would extend from Orleans Ave west to Villebois Dr North.  
• The discussion this evening was it was a bit wider, a public street, and so the discussion was whether 

that should the pavers extend all the way up or should it be as it is currently constructed…or maybe 
just up to the mixed use building on the corner.  

• The Applicant presented strong engineering evidence that the proposed Stormwater Management Plan 
would handle 80 percent of the site without the pavers on Villebois Dr North. However, he did not 
believe it was just an engineering exercise, but also an aesthetic/urban feel exercise as well; both 
exercises had to be combined. 

 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 11 of 21  

Mr. Heberlein stated that on the Circulation Plan & Street Sections (Sheet 7, Slide 8), Sections H2 and 
H1 on the west side of Villebois Dr North indicated parking but no bike lanes. Once beyond Paris St, 
Villebois Dr North transitioned to H4, which had bike lanes on both sides. He asked why there were no 
bike lanes on the west side of the street and then transitioned to bike lanes at Paris St. 
 
Ms. Akervall inquired if it was because of the linear green. 
 
Steve Adams, Development Engineering Manager, stated that the piece of Villebois Dr adjacent to the 
Piazza did not have bike lanes, but did have parking. There were pavers from building front through the 
Piazza Park with different colored pavers designating whether it was a walking lane, drive lane, or 
parking. Extending it north, where the pavers were originally; it was just a central area so bikes could be 
on the street. It was a shared bike and street connect, which was the intent when the street was developed 
nine years ago.  
• On the original plan, Section H1 was a paver stone street all the way up, so there was no need for bike 

lanes. He deferred to the Applicant, as far as the design and whether it would go to asphalt, and once 
north of Paris St, Villebois Dr North would look like Villebois Dr, which was already constructed 
clear out to Boeckman Rd currently. 

 
Chair Fierros Bower called for the Applicant’s testimony. 
 
Fred Gast, Polygon Northwest, 109 East 13th St, Vancouver, WA 98660 stated Mr. Edmonds did a 
great job presenting the details of the plans and he had reviewed the Polygon’s history during the first 
hearing, so he had a couple of slides to present, later entered into the record as Exhibit B3, and was more 
than happy to take any questions. 
• He displayed the site map of Villebois PDP 7C showing the location of the London and Brownstone 

row home housing types, noting the map represented the two different price points, as the London 
style was not as high end as the Brownstone due to what was happening on the street as well as in the 
building itself with a lot of outdoor living up front, which would hopefully allow for some 
enterprising entrepreneur to figure out how to operate a business out of their home. Over time 
allowing for a mixed use environment was a good step in advancing the central core of Villebois. 

• He also displayed the elevations of both building designs, reiterating that they had a look that might 
be found in London versus Boston, perhaps, or other areas, such as East Georgetown. The idea was to 
have different looks with different price points, and that variety in the community was important and 
was what Polygon was responding to. 

• With regard to the pavers, he responded that one great aspect of Villebois was that the plan was put 
together after a lot of extensive work by everybody involved at the time, from the development 
community to the community at large, and public commissions, like the DRB, and it became a very 
prescriptive plan. There were not a lot of things that could be adjusted, which was different from the 
developer’s point of view, who usually had a blank canvas and had to make the pitch, but this time, 
that creativity was already built into the plan. Polygon’s job was really to execute the vision, which 
they were happy to do. It came down to where to draw the line and you draw the line where the plan 
said to draw the line, and that was how they came about with the proposal.  

• The Woonerf was a significant investment. It was not a normal street, which Polygon knew going in; 
that was part of the expectation and part of the plan: if the property was to be developed, the Woonerf 
would be built. 
• That was not so much the case at Villebois Dr North, where the line stopped short of the 

extension of the mixed use, and that was the expectation Polygon had. As Mr. Edmonds 
commented, if they were going to develop some kind of a mixed use in the future, why not have it 
also have a nice door and that same kind of urban context.  



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 12 of 21  

• Certainly, there was an expense to it, but Polygon signed on for it because it was a good place to 
draw a line in their view and there would be a mixed use building there at some point, so, that 
was where the Applicant ended up in discussions with Staff. 

 
Ms. Akervall asked about the lack of bike lanes for that segment between the mixed use, where there 
would no longer be the paver feel, and where the bike lanes actually start east of the linear green. She 
asked if the pavers would go all the way to the linear green, so there would be no bike lane issue. 
 
Mr. Gast replied that was part of the discussion. There were a couple of options. One question was why 
have bike lanes for such a short distance. He understood the question was why not extend the pavers to 
another defining place. In an effort to demonstrate what Polygon had been doing for five years, he was 
okay if the Board wanted to extend the paver component clear to the next intersection, and then have that 
as the intersection. He believed that would provide a clear line as well as options for what happened on 
Paris St. However, as a public street, the City would have to weigh in also because consideration would 
have to be made for utilities and other things before ripping up the very expensive pavers to develop 
adjacent properties. 
 
Lenka Keith asked if the paver street was more expensive to maintain. 
 
Mr. Gast replied it was anticipated to be more expensive to maintain than a normal private street. 
Polygon had built a lot of private and public streets, but did not have a lot of experience with this and 
were anticipating it would be an expensive maintenance deal compared to a typical asphalt street, which 
could be ground down to add more asphalt. Although privately owned, the paver street was more like a 
public amenity or park improvement, and would absolutely cost like a very nice park. 
 
Mr. Heberlein confirmed the future plans for PDP-14 was mixed use and condos.   
 
Jim Lange, Pacific Community Design, added that the SAP anticipated that this whole side; this was 
what the applicant tested for one of their changes,  so while there was a broad range of uses, as long as 
they were in that bucket, that was kind of the test. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed the use could shift around within that area, so there could be mixed use 
there. 
 
Mr. Lange replied it was similar to what was seen when comparing the original SAP Central Master Plan 
for the block to what was actually built and/or under construction, which was different. (Slide 1, Exhibit 
B3) 
 
Ms. Akervall said she was curious what the City would say about having pavers extend farther in case 
there was more mixed use. 
 
Mr. Lange understood from the Applicant’s initial consultations that the original paver section was quite 
an arduous thing, and that the City’s Engineering Department supported their request to do what was on 
the application. 
 
Ms. Akervall noted that in the floor plans for the Brownstone, the middle units with single-car garages 
had refrigerators far away from counter space or a stove. She inquired if that layout was common or 
successful in other units that had been built. 
 
Mr. Gast said that he had built about 2,400 such homes and this was the first time he had ever gotten the 
question. He clarified that the floor plans were more representative of concepts that had been done before 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 13 of 21  

but the reality was that there would be some adjustments to the interior spaces. He noted the peninsula, 
adding they have had it as a u-shape the other way with caps going under the window, but that did not 
work with the door. They have also had an island in that kitchen. 
 
Ms. Akervall agreed an island could act as a landing point. 
 
Mr. Gast said he had not spent a lot of time on this one, because it was not his favorite, but it could be 
executed as a pantry and/or countertop. However, they were moving more toward an island kitchen.  
 
Ms. Akervall agreed it would be nice to have an island since the Brownstone was at a higher price point. 
 
Mr. Gast added they would move around the cook tops, vents, etc., depending on what Polygon was 
after, but they would want different in Brownstone, which would be at the higher price point. 
 
Ms. Keith asked what the shading meant in the lower level plans in the garage. 
 
Mr. Gast replied the shading was mechanical, so it was a drop ceiling. 
 
Mr. Edmonds suggested the Board ask Mr. Adams about his experiences in building and maintaining 
paver streets. 
 
Mr. Adams stated the first paving stone street built on the southeast side of the Piazza would become a 
public street under City ownership and maintenance this summer because the five-year maintenance 
period had expired. Ten years ago, there was a huge story about the street’s design, who would maintain 
it, etc. and it took about six months to design. 
• He did not know if paver stone streets were more costly to maintain than regular streets, but they did 

require annual maintenance with a machine to go over them to vacuum up the fall leaves. Paver 
streets could not be pressure-washed or have a spinning-brush used on them because it would push 
mulch into the paver which would ruin the effectiveness of the water draining through them. The leaf 
debris needed to be sucked up out of the paver and then light sand was scattered back over the pavers 
that would settle back into the cracks and grooves. 
• The City was not keen on maintaining the pavers, but that was part of the Villebois Plan, and he 

was confident the City would learn and love to maintain pavers. The paving stone street in 
Villebois was the first paving stone street built in the City of Wilsonville, so Staff went through a 
crash course on what they were, their various design aspects, and how to build them, etc. Since 
then, the City had implemented them in other areas, such as in parking lots and parking areas of 
streets, so they had learned quite a bit about them. 

• As far as the undeveloped lots on the far side, the City had recently gone through this experience 
when Rudy Kadlub developed the Carvalho Row Homes, which happened to front a paving stone 
linear park. To make the new utility connections, the paving stones had to be lifted up to do the utility 
work, then the sand bedding layer was laid back down with the pavers back on top and packed down. 
The pavers were made to be lifted up for maintenance work to be done, and put back down, which 
avoided the street cuts seen in asphalt or concrete streets. Theoretically, pavers created a better-
looking surface once maintenance was done. 

• Here, they could switch to paving stones all the way up to Paris St, which was only a half a block 
more, and whatever developed on the other side would just lift the pavers up, make the connections, 
and put the pavers back down. He did not foresee that being a problem if the Board chose to make 
that decision. 

 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 14 of 21  

Mr. Heberlein noted there appeared to be pavers in the area around the intersection in the development 
with Target and Costco. He asked if they were actually pavers and if they had any maintenance problems 
other than the painting. 
 
Mr. Adams understood those were not pavers, but painted, stamped concrete made to look like pavers. 
When the pavers were down, they were an 8,000 psi concrete, so they were very durable, twice the 
strength of what was seen on curbs and 2½ times the strength of City sidewalks on concrete streets.  
• The transition included bands of concrete used to block the pavers in, so there would be a concrete 

band across where the pavers met the asphalt, with asphalt on one side and the pavers abutting the 
other side of the concrete band. A lot of the pavers were held in place by concrete bands, which 
minimizes problems because they did not spread. As far as the strength of the pavers, these were the 
thickest possible pavers at 100 millimeters because transit planned to run buses down this street.  

• He noted he had not discussed the design of the paver street with the Applicant, but confirmed with 
Mr. Lange that the Applicant that the proposed design and standards would match what currently 
existed with the previous AC underneath.  

• When the paver street was designed, there was a huge debate on whether buses could run on pavers or 
stop and idle on pavers. The vibration of the buses’ tires tend to create settlement in the pavers, so the 
existing street was 100 millimeter paving stone, two inches of bedding sand, three inches of a porous 
asphalt, so water could drain through the pavers, bedding sand, and porous asphalt. Below the porous 
asphalt was the rock that actually held the water, and it was the only known street in Oregon that had 
pervious asphalt underneath the pavers, which was done to prevent settlement when buses or heavy 
truck traffic ran on the street. 

 
Ms. Keith appreciated the explanation as she was wondering how paver streets were structured. She 
asked the difference in cost between the paver street just described and a regular asphalt street. 
 
Mr. Adams understood that standard paving stone streets were about 25 percent more expensive. This 
collector level street, with the extra asphalt layer and other things done, would be substantially more 
expensive. The street was meant to carry heavier truck traffic, more vehicle counts, and buses. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for public testimony in favor of, opposed and neutral to the application. 
 
Rudy Kadlub, Costa Pacific Communities, 11422 SW Barber Street, Wilsonville, OR, said he was 
very pleased with both applications tonight in terms of respecting what was intended in the master plan 
created about 13years ago. The Village Center Architectural Standards (VCAS) had been followed and he 
was excited to see how the Woonerf would turn out. It was intended to be a very quiet, shared street. He 
believed it would be the most social street in the neighborhood with the architecture presented, especially 
the Brownstone stairs. Costa Pacific did a similar product in Orenco Station early on and those steps 
seemed to be where cocktail hour still took place, where people sit as others walk by. The parking area 
was actually in between the trees on the street as it was originally designed.  
• He was okay with the termination of Ravenna Lp for a couple of reasons. 

• As homeowners would probably attest, there had been accidents with people coming quickly up 
through Ravenna Lp into Barber St, so limiting the number of streets that intersect Barber St was 
a better idea, in retrospect. 

• Also, not having traffic crossing the Woonerf and having that as more of a pedestrian area was 
ideal. There would still be the connectivity desired, but there would be better safety and better 
execution of the Woonerf. 

• He noted the pavers cost a lot more than 25 percent more because two roads actually had to be built. 
Pervious pavement was built underneath on the rock bed and then the 100-millimeter pavers. He was 
not sure they would even be able to find pavers to match because they could only find one 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 15 of 21  

manufacturer that made the 100-millimeter pavers. The pavers in the Piazza and surrounding 
sidewalks were 60 millimeters. 
• He was okay with stopping the pavers as proposed. He did not necessarily think it would be better 

or worse if the pavers were not extended to Paris St or whatever the next cross street was. 
• Regarding the bike lanes, the Villebois Master Plan was based on the theory of the construct where 

the density was lowest at the edges and got denser closer to the middle with the highest density in the 
center, where the mixed use would be developed in the final phases. In this case, having the bike 
lanes start at the next loop road, which was Orleans Lp, made sense as people came in from the 
outskirts of the community where a bike was needed to get across Boeckman Rd to work, for 
example. Coming in, the roads narrow and the bikes share the road with cars and traffic would slow 
down. It made more sense to start the bike lane at the park rather than in the middle of Villebois Dr 
North due to the traffic patterns coming from the northeast to the southwest. Traffic would slow down 
and the street would become a shared street with no need for bike lanes at that point. 

 
Ms. Akervall asked if it would make sense to have a bike lane going toward the linear green to encourage 
walking and bike traffic on the linear green or paseo, the feature replacing a section Ravenna Lp. 
 
Mr. Kadlub explained the linear green actually extended from Barber St to the south with a rainwater 
element in between a double alley of trees that went for two blocks and extended down to Sophia Park. 
He clarified they did not want to encourage bikes to be ripping through the pedestrian space either. From 
a design standpoint, it did not make sense to start a bike lane in the middle of the street. It was best to start 
it where the two larger streets came together, where Orleans Lp and Villebois Dr widened and headed 
down to the traffic circle and out toward job centers. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower asked if the paseo was strictly for pedestrians and bicycles, would the bollards be 
on each end. 
 
Mr. Kadlub replied that was the idea, adding they would prohibit somebody from driving their vehicle 
down there. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for the Applicant’s rebuttal. 
 
Mr. Gast stated it was an expensive investment. Polygon would follow the plan that was in place. As to 
where to draw the line, Mr. Edmonds had a good comment, so they extended the pavers, and Polygon 
would extend it more if the Board chose to do so.   
 
Mr. Heberlein asked if there were any issues with changing the street section from a bike lane identified 
as H4 to H1, where it was just street and parking.  
 
Mr. Gast responded that Mr. Kadlub had made some good points. The Applicant was always trying to 
advance the notion of multi-modal transportation, but in that part of the community, the long-term was 
better served by not having the bike lane there and skinnying up the street. 
 
Mr. Heberlein asked if Staff had any issues or concerns with changing Street Section H4 to H1. 
 
Mr. Adams confirmed Mr. Adams had answered no from the audience. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed there was no further public testimony and closed the public hearing at 
8:34 pm. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 16 of 21  

Mr. Heberlein said he was unsure how to initiate the discussion regarding where the pavers end and what 
H4 did. He would propose that the pavers extend up to Paris St and that H4 be changed to H1. 
 
Mr. Edmonds noted Condition PDA 5 on Page 7 of 88 required that the pavers be extended up to Lot 42 
and could be modified, depending on the Board’s discussion. Additionally, Mr. Adams’ Condition PFA 
34 on Page 12 of 88 would need to be modified concurrently with Condition PDA5. 
 
Mr. Heberlein asked if a new condition should be added for the change of street type or would 
Conditions PDA 5 and PFA 34 have to be amended, though he was not sure they went together. 
 
Mr. Adams believed some language should be added to change the street section because the plan 
currently showed a different street type.  
 
Mr. Edmonds added it would be helpful when modifying the street section to support any condition with 
a finding of why the street section should change. 
 
Ms. Akervall agreed with Mr. Edmonds’ comments about extending the pavers for the mixed-use 
buildings and asked if the proposed change was because there might be more mixed use buildings 
developed across the street.  
 
Mr. Heberlein replied that was part of the reason. It also seemed to be a more logical transition to go 
from pavers to asphalt because of the crosswalk there and a more natural transition between one and the 
other. 
 
Mr. Adams noted the paving stone street ended in a 10-ft wide concrete crosswalk on the south side of 
Villebois Dr. Adding a concrete crosswalk at the southwest leg of the Villebois Dr and Paris St 
intersection would mimic what had already been done and make that transition look best. Other 
crosswalks that go across pavers were 10-ft wide concrete crosswalks that were scored with pavers 
abutting them and asphalt on the other side, which made a nice clean look.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower believed that since London style homes were along that side, rather than 
Brownstone homes, it seemed more appropriate to stop the pavers as proposed by Staff.  
 
Mr. Frinell agreed. 
 
Mr. Heberlein asked what the transition would look like in the current configuration. 
 
Mr. Adams reiterated the pavers had to be held in place by a flush concrete band, otherwise they risk 
moving. One could not pave up against pavers, so a one or two foot wide concrete band would have to be 
installed, though Mr Lange would have to decide what he wanted there, and then the pavers would abut 
on one side and asphalt would abut on the north side. He confirmed a concrete band would run across the 
street at that point. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower stated her earlier concern with PDP-14 was that it looked like the proposed line for 
the termination of the pavers was further east of the proposed mixed use area on the opposite side of the 
street, although if it stayed mixed use, it looked like it would be covered with pavers to the proposed 
cutoff line. 
 
Mr. Heberlein said he was concerned about the one to two foot transition being misconstrued as a 
crosswalk. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 17 of 21  

Mr. Adams did not believe that would occur because crosswalks were always 8 ft to 10 ft wide. 
 
Mr. Edmonds displayed the Site Land Use Plan (Sheet 3, Slide 7) and pointed out Lot 42 and the alley. 
According to the testimony, the current SAP plan showed potentially some mixed use in the area opposite 
Lot 42 with different kinds of housing from that point on. 
 
Ms. Akervall understood from the Applicant’s slides that mixed use, shown in blue tones, would be 
across Villebois Dr from the site in the area closest to the Piazza, though she understood those things 
could change. 
 
Mr. Edmonds displayed the SAP Central Phasing Plan (Sheet 9, Slide 5), and pointed out mixed use… 
and condos opposite Lot 42 in the corner on PDP-14. The mixed use did not go all the way up, but 
stopped short of the Lot 42 boundary. 
 
Mr. Heberlein asked to see the other presentation with the colors as he believed there might be some 
possible conflicts. 
 
Mr. Edmonds entered the Applicant’s PowerPoint into the record as Exhibit B3; A paper copy of the 
PowerPoint was also provided for the record. 
• He displayed the SAP Central Comparison – Land Use slide from the Applicant’s presentation and 

confirmed that Lot 42 was shown in green and was mixed use, as was PDP-14 across the street. 
Mixed-use condos typically had retail on the bottom floor and condos on the upper floors. 

• He confirmed that a post office kiosk was located in the vicinity, but noted that was not the permanent 
location. Once PDP-14 was developed, it would be moved into one of the mixed use buildings. 

 
Chair Fierros Bower asked where Staff’s proposed transition line would be for the termination of the 
pavers. 
 
Mr. Edmonds replied the transition from asphalt to paver would probably be at the alley. 
 
Ms. Keith believed that made sense considering it was uncertain what would be developed on the site to 
the north, so why add any additional expense based on speculation. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower agreed. 
 
Mr. Heberlein asked about changing H4 to H1, essentially removing the dedicated bike lanes on the 
section between Paris St and Orleans Lp on Villebois Dr North.   
 
Ms. Akervall stated that as a mother, she really liked having a bike lane, but having a bike lane that 
dumped people out to suddenly no bike lane was concerning, too. 
 
Mr. Edmonds noted there were still sidewalks in front of the residential buildings, just minus the bike 
lanes. Bike lanes were where serious, adult riders rode. It was assumed small children would ride on the 
sidewalk. 
 
Mr. Adams stated that wherever kids might ride bikes in Villebois, the City tended to put in wider 
sidewalks. Graham’s Ferry Road was an excellent example as it had a 10-ft sidewalk and a bike lane. 
While he would ride his bike in the bike lane, a family going out for a gentle bike ride or parents walking 
with kids biking, would be on the 10-ft wide sidewalk because younger children should not be in the bike 
lane. 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 18 of 21  

• He was unsure if H2 were reduced to H1 whether the Applicant would widen the sidewalk there in 
response to having no bike lane. It had never been discussed at any open hearing. 

• The width of that sidewalk was hard to determine because it was a paving stone sidewalk that went 
from front of building across the street and stopped where the parking was located. Currently, the 
sidewalk was 10-ft, 12-ft or 14-ft wide in front of the existing building. He had not seen FDPs, so he 
was unsure what the Applicant had in mind for the sidewalk adjacent to Villebois Dr, especially once 
past the paving stone street. The paving stone street sidewalk would look the same as everything else 
as the sidewalk would be all the way across until the street, which was paving stone. 

 
Mr. Heberlein believed H1 on the Circulation Plan and Street Sections (Sheet 7) showed a 5.5 ft 
sidewalk.   
 
Mr. Adams confirmed both H2 and H1 indicated a 5.5 ft sidewalk. 
 
Ms. Akervall confirmed the suggestion was to replace H4 with H1, but still have H2 where proposed, so 
there would be no bike lane but a 5-ft sidewalk. 
 
Mr. Heberlein stated that was what they already had at H1. 
 
Ms. Akervall confirmed H2 was the area with the pavers, which she understood would match the existing 
pavers. She agreed driving on pavers caused motorists to slow down due to the different feel.  
 
Mr. Heberlein asked if the transition with the pavers on H2 had been discussed. 
 
Mr. Edmonds responded it would be difficult to design those details tonight, and suggested the Board 
leave it somewhat open for the City’s and Applicant’s engineering staff to work together to figure it out. 
The intent was to try to formulate a condition to have a reasonable transition between the streets. 
 
Ms. Akervall agreed, both for aesthetics and a safe feeling. 
 
Mr. Heberlein said it was not sure continuing a bike lane for 200 ft made sense. 
 
Ms. Akervall added if the Applicant decided to add a wider sidewalk in its place that would be nice. She 
asked if that was something the Applicant could talk with Staff about. 
 
Barbara Jacobson, Assistant City Attorney confirmed the Applicant could talk with Staff about 
making a wider sidewalk, but that was not something that had been on the record, so she would not 
recommend that condition without giving the Applicant a chance to discuss it. If the Board wanted to 
discuss it, the hearing would have to be reopened; otherwise they would need to stick with what was in 
the Staff report. 
 
Mr. Heberlein stated that since H2 and the existing H1 already had a 5.5 ft sidewalk, it should just be 
continued to the rest of the street. 
 
Mr. Adams added if the Board wanted to remove the bike lane and make the sidewalk safer for 
pedestrians and children to ride, they would want a minimum 8-ft wide sidewalk to allow plenty of space 
so children did not run into people’s ankles. A wider sidewalk had a more comfortable feeling when 
accommodating pedestrians, bicyclists, skateboarders, dog walkers, etc.  
• He confirmed an 8-ft sidewalk would not be needed if there was a bike lane. However, a 5-ft sidewalk 

without a bike lane would not mesh as well in his opinion. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 19 of 21  

Mr. Heberlein responded that H1 and H2 would actually be changed then, because H2 currently showed 
a 5.5 ft sidewalk. 
 
Ms. Akervall asked if the 5 ft sidewalk was all pavers and whether it had an edge. 
 
Mr. Adams clarified that the existing Villebois Dr was flush, with the different areas designated by 
different pavers with different colors and styles. The sidewalk was one type of paver with a different color 
and look, then there was a paver with a truncated dome, which allowed a blind person to know they were 
walking from a pedestrian area to a street area, another paver was used for the parking areas and a 
different paver was used for the street. Paver styles, looks, and types changed as one crossed the street. He 
imagined H2 would mimic the same look as that seen on Villebois Dr currently. He confirmed there were 
no poured concrete sidewalks. It was paving stones from building front all the way across the street, 
except for tree grates. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed the Board wanted to revise H1 and H4 from a 5.5-ft sidewalk to an 8-ft 
sidewalk. 
 
Ms. Jacobson reiterated that the Board would need to discuss the change with the Applicant, which 
would require reopening the hearing. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed that the Board wanted to reopen the public hearing to further discuss the 
sidewalk and bike lane options. 
 
Ms. Akervall stated that with the elimination of the bike lane in H4, she was not sure there was room to 
do widen the sidewalk. 
 
Ronald Heberlein moved to reopen the public hearing. Kirstin Akervall seconded the motion, which 
passed 3 to 2 with James Frinell and Lenka Keith opposed. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called the Applicant forward. 
 
Mr. Gast said the Board’s discussion reminded him of all the discussions the Applicant had over 
conference and design tables for weeks and months trying to come up with a proposal and determine if 
there was a better idea. That was why the prescriptive plan, in some ways, was very nice.  
• He understood the wider sidewalk because in that part of the neighborhood, he believed it would be 

beneficial, but changing the H1 section to include wider sidewalks would take more real estate out of 
the planned driveway to accommodate the wider sidewalk, which would then push back the buildings 
along that section and probably compromise the plan. It was a great goal, but it would have negative, 
unintended consequences. 

• The simplistic way to look at it was to just stay with what the plan called for, or create a condition to 
allow the Applicant some flexibility to work with Staff in determining what would happen to the H4 
section or to replace the H4 with the H1 section. 

 
Mr. Adams said the City would not be opposed to reducing the 4-ft landscape area to 2 ft or so, which 
would provide an area for planter boxes or tree grates with sidewalk and curb all the way back. That 
design would be acceptable on the H1 Section. 
 
Mr. Gast replied that would be acceptable, but as far as laying out the details, he suggested including a 
condition that provided some flexibility in trying to find an 8-ft sidewalk. It needed to be either really 
definitive or really flexible. He preferred being definitive so he knew what he was executing and 
everybody understood what was happening.  



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 20 of 21  

• He was okay with a specific condition to do an H1 section clear from the curb cut to the alley, or 
wherever the pavers stopped to accommodate a planter strip in transition to accommodate an 8-ft 
sidewalk. That way a transition could be worked out in that right-of-way. He believed that would 
allow the Applicant to work with the planter strip to come up with an urban form of sidewalk versus a 
suburban form, which would result in more tree wells and require more money and concrete, but that 
was what the Board was trying to achieve.  

 
Mr. Heberlein said he liked the concept the Applicant proposed, adding it was just a matter of wording 
the condition so that it worked for Staff as well. 
 
Mr. Adams suggested adding a condition that would eliminate the H4 section between Paris St and SW 
Orleans Ave, and add H1 between the alley connection at the north edge of H2 up to SW Orleans Ave 
with the change that the 10.5 ft combined landscape sidewalk area shall contain a minimum 8-ft sidewalk. 
 
Mr. Gast suggested that the language state that from the terminus of pavers as identified in the Staff 
report along Villebois Dr North to the intersection of Orleans Ave, the Applicant would implement 
Section H1 with the direction that Staff work with the Applicant on the sidewalk planter strip 
reconfiguration. 
 
Ms. Jacobson suggested that new Condition PFA 50 state, “The Applicant and Staff will work together 
to create an 8-ft sidewalk by proportionally reducing the planter strip.” 
 
Mr. Adams clarified the following language should be added, “and that per the submitted plan on Sheet 
7, Section H4 has been revised to Section H1.” 
 
Chair Fierros Bower closed the public hearing at 9:11 pm. 
 
Ronald Heberlein moved to approve the Staff report, entered into the record as Revised Exhibit A1, 
and add new Condition of Approval PFA50 as read into the record by Staff. Kristin Akervall 
seconded the motion, which passed 4 to 1 with James Frinell opposed. 
 
The following new condition was added to Revised Exhibit A1: 
• Condition PFA50 “The Applicant and Staff will work together to create an 8-ft sidewalk by 

proportionally reducing the planter strip and that per the submitted plan on Sheet 7, Section H4 
has been revised to Section H1.” 

 
Kristin Akervall moved to approve Resolution No. 307. The motion was seconded by Ronald 
Heberlein and passed unanimously.   
 
Chair Fierros Bower read the rules of appeal into the record. 
 
VIII. Board Member Communications 

A. Results of the June 22, 2015 DRB Panel B meeting 
 
IX. Staff Communications 
There were none. 
 
X. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 9:16 p.m. 

 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  July 13, 2015 
Minutes  Page 21 of 21  

Respectfully submitted, 
 

  
 

 
Paula Pinyerd, ABC Transcription Services, Inc. for  
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2015 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII.  Public Hearing:     
A. Resolution No. 312.  Republic Services CNG Fueling 

Station:  Mr. Eric Anderson, Republic Services – 
Applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Stage 
I Preliminary Plan Revision, Stage II Final Plan, Site 
Design Review and Type ‘C’ Tree Removal Plan for the 
Republic Services property located at 10295 SW Ridder 
Road, to develop a compressed natural gas (CNG) fueling 
station. The site is located on Tax Lot 1400 Section 2C, 
Township 3 South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, 
City of Wilsonville, Washington County, Oregon.  Staff:  
Blaise Edmonds 

 
Case Files:   DB15-0051   Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
  DB15-0052   Revised Stage II Final Plan, Phase 2  

 DB15-0053   Site Design Review, Phase 2 
 DB15-0057   Type ‘C’ Tree Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 312 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS APPROVING A STAGE I 
PRELIMINARY PLAN REVISION, STAGE II FINAL PLAN, SITE DESIGN REVIEW 
AND TYPE ‘C’ TREE REMOVAL PLAN FOR THE REPUBLIC SERVICES 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 10295 SW RIDDER ROAD, TO DEVELOP A 
COMPRESSED NATURAL GAS (CNG) FUELING STATION. THE SITE IS LOCATED 
ON TAX LOT 1400 SECTION 2C, TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, 
WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF WILSONVILLE, WASHINGTON COUNTY, 
OREGON. MR. ERIC ANDERSON, REPUBLIC SERVICES - APPLICANT. 
 
 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned 
development, has been submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 of 
the Wilsonville Code, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared staff report on the above-captioned subject 
dated September 3, 2015, and 
 
 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the 
Development Review Board at a scheduled meeting conducted on September 14, 2015, at which 
time exhibits, together with findings and public testimony were entered into the public record, 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the 
recommendations contained in the staff report, and 
 
 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board Panel A 
of the City of Wilsonville does hereby adopt the staff report dated September 3, 2015, attached 
hereto as Exhibit A1, with findings and recommendations contained therein, and authorizes the 
Planning Director to issue permits consistent with said recommendations for:  
 

DB15-0051  Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
DB15-0052  Revised Stage II Final Plan for Phase 2 
DB15-0053  Site Design Review for Phase 2 
DB15-0057  Type ‘C’ Tree Plan for Phase 2 

 
ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular 

meeting thereof this 14th day of September, 2015 and filed with the Planning Administrative 
Assistant on _______________.  This resolution is final on the l5th calendar day after the 
postmarked date of the written notice of decision per WC Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC 
Sec 4.022(.02) or called up for review by the council in accordance with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 
 
       
          ______,  
      Mary Fierros Bower, Chair, Panel A 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
Attest: 
 
 
       
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 1 of 45 
 

Exhibit A1 
STAFF REPORT 

WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION 
 

Republic Services  
Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) Fueling Station 

 
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘A’ 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 
STAFF REPORT 

HEARING DATE September 14, 2015 
DATE OF REPORT: September 3, 2015 
 
 
APPLICATION NOS.:  
 
DB15-0051  Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
DB15-0052  Revised Stage II Final Plan, Phase 2 
DB15-0053  Site Design Review, Phase 2 
DB15-0057  Type ‘C’ Tree Plan, Phase 2 
 
REQUEST/SUMMARY: The Development Review Board is being asked to review; Stage I 
Preliminary Plan (master plan) revision, Stage II Final Plan revision for Phase 2, Site Design 
Review for Phase 2, Type ‘C’ Tree Plan to develop a Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) fueling 
station at Republic Services. Recent phased improvements included a new maintenance building 
and container/drop box storage area, associated improvements including storm detention and 
landscape screening. The current Phase 2 approval shows future office expansion, parking area 
and a future driveway from SW Ridder Road.  
 
The applicant has indicated to staff that Republic Services plans have changed as they are under-
going a fleet conversion from diesel trucks to CNG vehicles. (See details in Compliance 
Narrative in Exhibit B1). Therefore Phase 2 plans are now to construct a CNG fueling station, 
rather than the office expansion. The applicant’s Master Plan – 2015 Update shows the future 
office expansion adjoining the maintenance building as Phase 3. 
 
LOCATION: North side of SW Ridder Road, east of SW Garden Acres Road. The property is 
specifically known as Tax Lot 1400, Section 2C, Township 3 South, Range 1 West, Willamette 
Meridian, City of Wilsonville, Washington County, Oregon. 
 
OWNER: Mr. Eric Anderson of Republic Services (Willamette Resources) 
APPLICANT: Republic Services and Clean Energy, Design/Build Contractor 
APPLICANT’S REP.: Mr. Ben Altman, Pioneer Design Group, LLC 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 2 of 45 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP DESIGNATION: Industrial 
 
ZONE MAP CLASSIFICATION: PDI (Planned Development Industrial) 
 
STAFF REVIEWERS:  Blaise Edmonds, Manager of Current Planning 
 Steve Adams PE, Development Engineering Manager 
 Kerry Rappold, Natural Resource Program Manager 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve the requested revised Stage I Preliminary Plan,  
approve with conditions the proposed revised Stage II Final Plan and Site Design Review for 
Phase 2.  Approve Type ‘C’ Tree Plan to remove three trees. 
 
APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA 
 
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
Section 4.010 How to Apply 
Section 4.011 How Applications are Processed 
Section 4.014 Burden of Proof 
Section 4.031 Authority of the Development Review Board 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) Site Development Permit Application 
Subsection 4.035 (.05) Complete Submittal Requirement 
Section 4.110 Zones 
Section 4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Development in All 

Zones 
Section 4.118 Standards Applying to Planned Development Zones 
Section 4.135 Planned Development Industrial Zone (PDI) 
Section 4.140 Planned Development Regulations 
Section 4.154 On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
Section 4.155 Parking, Loading, and Bicycle Parking 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
Section 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
Sections 4.199.20 through 4.199.60 Outdoor Lighting 
Sections 4.300 through 4.320 Underground Utilities 
Sections 4.400 through 4.440  Site Design Review 
Section 4.620.40 Type ‘C’ Tree Permit 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 3 of 45 
 

Vicinity Map 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 
 
Stage I Preliminary Plan (Master Plan) Revision (DB15-0051) 
 
The subject property was first approved for a solid waste material recovery facility, 
administrative offices, and related operations in the 1990’s:  

• Case File 91PC33 – Stage I Master Plan Willamette Resources 
• Case File 94DR18 – Site Design Review, Willamette Resources 
• Case File 99DB03 – Site Design Review, Keller Drop Boxes 

 
Republic Services administrative offices and the solid waste Material Recovery Facility (MRF) 
are located on Tax Lot 1400 as approved by the city (Case Files 94DR18 and 99DB03). The 
MRF contains 55,750 square feet of floor area, and the offices have 4,850 square feet of floor 
area totaling 60,600 square feet.   
 
Phase 1 Improvements (2014) 

• DB14-0032 Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision 
• DB14-0033 Stage II Final Plan – 13,750 sq. ft. maintenance building, and container 

storage yard.  
• DB14-0034 Site Design Review - maintenance building and container storage yard. 
• DB4-0035 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 4 of 45 
 

This Application - Proposed Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan – Phase 2 (Master Plan) 2015: 
 
Please refer to pages 5 through 14 of the Compliance Narrative in Exhibit B1 for a detailed 
description of the proposed revised Preliminary Development Plan revision. Phase 4 is outside 
the city limits and is not within the jurisdictional review of the City. As stated in the 
Request/Summary statement the container/drop box storage yard would be replaced with the 
proposed CNG fueling station, and including a CNG equipment compound at the northwest 
corner of Tax Lot 1400. The CNG fueling station will initially provide stalls for 30 trucks within 
the existing paved area.  
 
SW Garden Acres Road: The city has taken a phased approach to requiring public improvements 
that are based on the applicant’s multi-phased development plan consistent with the projects 
impacts. For purposes of Dolan, the staff finds that there is not a nexus between the proposed 
CNG fueling station for street dedication at SW Garden Acres Road that would be proportional 
to the impact created by the project.     
 
Proposed Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan – Phase 3 (Master Plan) 2016 – 17: 
 
The future 3,960 sq. ft. office addition to the maintenance building becomes Phase 3. 
 
Truck fueling parking will be expanded to the west stalls creating all 58 trucks.  

 
Contemplated Phases on Land Outside the City 
 
Phase 4, (2 to 10 years): 
 
Republic Services owns property to the north of their current operations as well as Phase 1, 2 and 
3. Though drawings showing planned future improvements in Phase 4 on these properties have 
been submitted, (see Plan Sheet 1 of 3) the City is taking no action as the land is currently 
outside the City’s jurisdiction and no annexation has been requested. 
 
Proposed Stage II Final Plan Revision for Phase 2 (DB15-0052) 
 
Republic Services relocated its truck maintenance operation from Sherwood to this site. Republic 
Services is undergoing a fleet conversion from diesel to CNG. Last year’s development included 
a 13,750 square foot maintenance building is located on the west side of the MRF building. The 
maintenance building replaced an outdoor storage yard. Related improvements included 11 
parking spaces (9 standard/2 handicapped) and one loading space immediately west of the 
maintenance building, a paved, container storage yard (west of the new building), supplemental 
landscaping and parking, and storm water quality and detention facilities. The proposed revised 
Phase 2 plan shows a CNG fueling station replacing the container/drop box storage yard area.  
 

• Section 4.140.09(J)(1) Land Use: The location, design, size of the project, both 
separately and as a whole, are consistent with the Planned Development Residential – 5 
Zone. See Discussion Topics.  

 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 5 of 45 
 

• Section 4.140.09(J)(2) Traffic: It is estimated that the proposed CNG fueling station 
project would generate 0 p.m. peak hour trips. The location, design, size of the project is 
such that traffic generated by can be accommodated safely, and without congestion in 
excess of level of service (LOS) "D" defined in the highway capacity manual published 
by the National Highway Research Board on existing or immediately planned arterial or 
collector streets. Thus, there is adequate traffic capacity to serve the project which 
complies with Subsection 4.140.09(J)(2).  

• Section 4.140.09(J)(3) Public Facilities and Services: The location, design, size and 
uses of the proposed CNG fueling station project are such that the use to be 
accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned facilities 
and services.  

 
Site Design Review (DB15-0053) 
 
Architectural Design 
 
Staff finds that the CNG fueling station is very utilitarian including compressors, dryer, 
switchgear, CNG hose fill posts to serve Republic Services trucks. The proposed 8’-8” x 34’ 
CNG compound electrical control canopy will be an open steel framed structure. There is no 
architectural asset for such a CMG facility so the applicant is depending on existing perimeter 
landscaping and slatted chain link fencing to screen it from off-site view.  
 
Landscape Design and Screening along Garden Acres Road 
 
The applicant indicates: “No new parking is being provided and existing landscaping is 
consistent with prior approvals.” Plan Sheet 16/16 of Exhibit B1), shows the current landscape 
treatment along SW Ridder Road and SW Garden Acres Road. It is a 6 foot high landscape 
buffer and proposed is a new 6 foot high chain link fence with vinyl slats along the back side to 
further buffer the project site at SW Garden Acres Road. This meets applicable code standards 
for screening of the proposed CNG fueling station. Existing landscaping features a combination 
of trees and shrubs within and adjacent south is a truck parking lot. As noted in this report, the 
landscape buffering and street trees were expanded to include the SW Garden Acres Road 
frontage.” 
 
Type ‘C’ Tree Plan (DB15-0057) 
 
Three (3) trees are located within SW Gardens Acres Road right-of-way and are adjacent to the 
CNG equipment compound site. The applicant is proposing to remove those trees which are 
shown on Sheet 2 of 3 for Existing Conditions. See page 1 of the Arborist’s Report in Exhibit 
B1. The tree numbers are 7566 – 7568. They are English hawthorn in poor condition. Eventually, 
additional street trees would be planted when SW Garden Acres road improvments occur.  
 

The applicant has indicated to staff that the proposed tree removal should be Type ‘B’ process, 
not requiring DRB review. To the contrary, Subsection 4.610.40(.01)WC requires Type ‘C’ DRB 
process connected to site plan review by the DRB for the proposed development. The applicant 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 6 of 45 
 

is proposing to pay into the City Tree Fund instead of replacing the three trees which is allowed 
by code.  
 
CONCLUSION AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
Staff has reviewed the applicant’s analysis of compliance with the applicable criteria. This Staff 
Report adopts the applicant’s responses as Findings of Fact in regards to the Stage I revision, 
Stage II Final Plan revision for Phase 2, Site Design Review and Type ‘C’ Tree Plan. Based on 
the Findings of Fact and information included in this Staff Report, and information received 
from a duly advertised public hearing, Staff recommends that the Development Review Board 
approve the proposed application.  
 
The applications and supporting documents are hereby adopted for approval with the 
following conditions:  
 
PD = Planning Division conditions 
PF = Engineering Conditions. DRB approved 
conditions from Case File DB14-0033.  
NR = Natural Resources Conditions 

 

 
Planning Division Conditions: 
 
REQUEST A: DB15-0051 Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision 

No conditions for this request. 

 
REQUEST B: DB15-0052 Revised Stage II Final Plan for Phase 2. This action does not 
approve the CNG fueling station expansion in Phase 3. 
 

Planning Division Conditions:  

PDB 1. Minor changes in an approved revised Stage II Final Plan for Phase 2 may be 
approved by the Planning Director through the Class I Administrative Review 
Process if such changes are consistent with the purposes and general character of the 
development plan. All other modifications, including extension or revision of the 
stage development schedule, shall be processed in the same manner as the original 
application and shall be subject to the same procedural requirements.  

The following Conditions of Approval are provided by the Engineering, Natural Resources, or 
Building Divisions of the City’s Community Development Department. A number of these 
Conditions of Approval are not related to land use regulations under the authority of the 
Development Review Board or Planning Director. Only those Conditions of Approval related to 
criteria in Chapter 4 of Wilsonville Code and the Comprehensive Plan, including but not limited 
to those related to traffic level of service, site vision clearance, recording of plats, and 
concurrency, are subject to the Land Use review and appeal process defined in Wilsonville Code 
and Oregon Revised Statutes and Administrative Rules. Other Conditions of Approval are based 
on City Code chapters other than Chapter 4, state law, federal law, or other agency rules and 
regulations. Questions or requests about the applicability, appeal, exemption or non-compliance 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 7 of 45 
 

related to these other Conditions of Approval should be directed to the City Department, 
Division, or non-City agency with authority over the relevant portion of the development 
approval.  
The following Engineering Division PF conditions were approved by the Development 
Review Board in Case File DB14-0033 and they are applicable to this application. For 
reference those Stage II Final Plan conditions are the following:    
Standard Comments: 

PFB 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance 
to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFB 2. Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the 
following amounts: 

Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted)                            Limit 
Commercial General Liability 
            General Aggregate (per project)                             $ 2,000,000 
            Fire Damage (any one fire)                                     $      50,000 
            Medical Expense (any one person)                         $      10,000 
Business Automobile Liability Insurance 
            Each Occurrence                                                     $ 1,000,000 
            Aggregate                                                                $ 2,000,000 
Workers Compensation Insurance                                      $    500,000 

PFB 3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public 
utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees 
have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements have been obtained 
and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance. 

PFB 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 22”x 
34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public 
Work’s Standards. 

PFB 5. Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria: 
a. Utility improvements that shall be maintained by the public and are not 

contained within a public right-of-way shall be provided a maintenance access 
acceptable to the City. The public utility improvements shall be centered in a 
minimum 15-ft. wide public easement for single utilities and a minimum 20-ft 
wide public easement for two parallel utilities and shall be conveyed to the City 
on its dedication forms. 

b. Design of any public utility improvements shall be approved at the time of the 
issuance of a Public Works Permit.  Private utility improvements are subject to 
review and approval by the City Building Department. 

c. In the plan set for the PW Permit, existing utilities and features, and proposed 
new private utilities shall be shown in a lighter, grey print.  Proposed public 
improvements shall be shown in bolder, black print. 

d. All elevations on design plans and record drawings shall be based on NAVD 88 
Datum.   

e. All proposed on and off-site public/private utility improvements shall comply 
with the State of Oregon and the City of Wilsonville requirements and any other 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 8 of 45 
 

applicable codes. 
f. Design plans shall identify locations for street lighting, gas service, power lines, 

telephone poles, cable television, mailboxes and any other public or private 
utility within the general construction area. 

g. As per City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 615, all new gas, telephone, cable, 
fiber-optic and electric improvements etc. shall be installed underground.  
Existing overhead utilities shall be undergrounded wherever reasonably 
possible. 

h. Any final site landscaping and signing shall not impede any proposed or 
existing driveway or interior maneuvering sight distance. 

i. Erosion Control Plan that conforms to City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482. 
j. Existing/proposed right-of-way, easements and adjacent driveways shall be 

identified. 
k. All engineering plans shall be printed to PDF, combined to a single file, 

stamped and digitally signed by a Professional Engineer registered in the State 
of Oregon.  

l. All plans submitted for review shall be in sets of a digitally signed PDF and 
three printed sets.   

PFB 6. Submit plans in the following general format and order for all public works 
construction to be maintained by the City: 

a. Cover sheet 
b. City of Wilsonville construction note sheet 
c. General construction note sheet 
d. Existing conditions plan. 
e. Erosion control and tree protection plan. 
f. Site plan.  Include property line boundaries, water quality pond boundaries, 

sidewalk improvements, right-of-way (existing/proposed), easements 
(existing/proposed), and sidewalk and road connections to adjoining properties. 

g. Grading plan, with 1-foot contours. 
h. Composite utility plan; identify storm, sanitary, and water lines; identify storm 

and sanitary manholes. 
i. Detailed plans; show plan view and either profile view or provide i.e.’s at all 

utility crossings; include laterals in profile view or provide table with i.e.’s at 
crossings; vertical scale 1”= 5’, horizontal scale 1”= 20’ or 1”= 30’. 

j. Street plans. 
k. Storm sewer/drainage plans; number all lines, manholes, catch basins, and 

cleanouts for easier reference 
l. Water and sanitary sewer plans; plan; number all lines, manholes, and cleanouts 

for easier reference. 
m. Detailed plan for storm water detention facility (both plan and profile views), 

including water quality orifice diameter and manhole rim elevations.  Provide 
detail of inlet structure and energy dissipation device. Provide details of drain 
inlets, structures, and piping for outfall structure.  Note that although storm 
water detention facilities are typically privately maintained they will be 
inspected by engineering, and the plans must be part of the Public Works Permit 
set. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 9 of 45 
 

n. Detailed plan for water quality facility (both plan and profile views).  Note that 
although storm water quality facilities are typically privately maintained they 
will be inspected by Natural Resources, and the plans must be part of the Public 
Works Permit set. 

o. Composite franchise utility plan. 
p. City of Wilsonville detail drawings. 
q. Illumination plan. 
r. Striping and signage plan. 
s. Landscape plan. 

PFB 7. Prior to manhole and sewer line testing, design engineer shall coordinate with the 
City and update the sanitary and stormwater sewer systems to reflect the City’s 
numbering system.  Video testing and sanitary manhole testing will refer to the 
updated numbering system.  Design engineer shall also show the updated numbering 
system on As-Built drawings submitted to the City. 

PFB 8. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures in 
conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 
482 during the construction of any public/private utility and building improvements 
until such time as approved permanent vegetative materials have been installed. 

PFB 9. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil 
on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall 
obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 1 
to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of 
Wilsonville is required. 

PFB 10. To lessen the impact of the proposed project on the downstream storm drain system, 
and adjacent properties, project run-off from the site shall be detained and limited to 
the difference between a developed 25-year storm and an undeveloped 25-year storm. 
The detention and outfall facilities shall be designed and constructed in conformance 
with the Public Works Standards. 

PFB 11. A storm water analysis prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of 
Oregon shall be submitted for review and approval by the City to address appropriate 
pipe and detention facility sizing. 

PFB 12. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements for the 
proposed development per the Public Works Standards.  If a mechanical water quality 
system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a 
letter from the system manufacturer stating that the system was installed per 
specifications and is functioning as designed. 

PFB 13. Storm water quality facilities shall have approved landscape planted and/or some 
other erosion control method installed and approved by the City of Wilsonville prior 
to streets and/or alleys being paved. 

PFB 14. Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention ordinance 
and approval of TVF&R. 

PFB 15. The applicant shall contact the Oregon Water Resources Department and inform them 
of any existing wells located on the subject site. Any existing well shall be limited to 
irrigation purposes only. Proper separation, in conformance with applicable State 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 10 of 45 
 

standards, shall be maintained between irrigation systems, public water systems, and 
public sanitary systems.  Should the project abandon any existing wells, they shall be 
properly abandoned in conformance with State standards. 

PFB 16. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance 
within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall be 
adequately referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction 
activity.  If the survey monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a 
result of any construction, the project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a 
registered professional land surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the monument 
to its original condition and file the necessary surveys as required by Oregon State 
law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff. 

PFB 17. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in 
compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFB 18. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 
PFB 19. The project shall connect to an existing manhole or install a manhole at each 

connection point to the public storm system and sanitary sewer system.  
PFB 20. A City approved energy dissipation device shall be installed at all proposed storm 

system outfalls. Storm outfall facilities shall be designed and constructed in 
conformance with the Public Works Standards. 

PFB 21. The applicant shall provide a ‘stamped’ engineering plan and supporting information 
that shows the proposed street light locations meet the appropriate AASHTO lighting 
standards for all proposed streets and pedestrian alleyways. 

PFB 22. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation Systems 
Plan and the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in conjunction with 
any conditioned street improvements. 

PFB 23. Street and traffic signs shall have a hi-intensity prismatic finish meeting ASTM 4956 
Spec Type 4 standards. 

PFB 24. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by 
driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs to be submitted and 
approved by the City Engineer. Coordinate and align proposed driveways with 
driveways on the opposite side of the proposed project site. 

PFB 25. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's 
Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. Landscaping 
plantings shall be low enough to provide adequate sight distance at all street 
intersections and alley/street intersections. 

PFB 26. Applicant shall design interior streets and alleys to meet specifications of Tualatin 
Valley Fire & Rescue and Allied Waste Management (United Disposal) for access 
and use of their vehicles. 

PFB 27. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access 
Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the storm 
system to be privately maintained. Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities may be 
located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant 
shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional storm water 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 11 of 45 
 

facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when 
it is formed.  

PFB 28. The applicant shall “loop” proposed waterlines by connecting to the existing City 
waterlines where applicable. 

PFB 29. All water lines that are to be temporary dead-end lines due to the phasing of 
construction shall have a valved tee with fire-hydrant assembly installed at the end of 
the line. 

PFB 30. Applicant shall provide a minimum 6-foot Public Utility Easement on lot frontages to 
all public right-of-ways. An 8-foot PUE shall be provided along Collectors. A 10-ft 
PUE shall be provided along Minor and Major Arterials. 

PFB 31. For any new public easements created with the project the Applicant shall be required 
to produce the specific survey exhibits establishing the easement and shall provide the 
City with the appropriate  Easement document (on City approved forms). 

PFB 32. Mylar Record Drawings:  
At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and 
before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record 
survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which 
will serve as the physical record of those changes made to the plans and/or 
specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred during construction. 
Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate changes will be made to the 
construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 'set' shall be 
submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy 
in AutoCAD, current version, and a digitally signed PDF. 

Specific Comments:  
PFB 33. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Transportation Impact Analysis 

dated April 28, 2014. For the combined, proposed Phase 1 and Phase 2 improvements 
the project is hereby limited to no more than the following impacts. Though the 
traffic report pertains to both phases only Phase 1 is being approved at this time. 

 
Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 34 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 23 
Through Elligsen Road Interchange Area 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 3 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 
 

Staff note: The Community Development Director has waived the requirement for a 
Transportation Impact Analysis for the subject Phase 2 aplicaation for the CNG fueling 
station because there would be no net increase in PM hour traffic. See Exhibit C4. 

PFB 34. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan Ridder Road is identified as a Collector with 
a required right-of-way (ROW) of 73 feet for the planned street cross section (36.5 
feet half street ROW). With Phase 1 permitting Applicant shall dedicate sufficient 
ROW to accommodate the future full build out of Ridder Road; this will require an 
additional 6.5 feet of ROW dedication of property adjacent to those portions of 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 12 of 45 
 

Ridder Road that have an existing 60 foot ROW, and an additional 11.5 feet of ROW 
dedication of property adjacent to those portions of Ridder Road that have an existing 
50 foot ROW to the City to accommodate a half-street width of 36.5 feet. 

PFB 35. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan Garden Acres Road is identified as an 
alternative collector (street improvement project SI-0). For this future industrialized 
area the cross section would be similar to Ridder Road – right-of-way (ROW) of 73 
feet for the planned street cross section (36.5 feet half street ROW). With Phase 1 
permitting Applicant shall dedicate sufficient ROW to accommodate the future full 
build out of Garden Acres Road; this will require an additional 14.0 feet of ROW 
dedication of property adjacent to Garden Acres Road to the City to accommodate a 
half-street width of 36.5 feet. 

PFB 36. Access to public right-of-way at Ridder Road shall be via the two existing driveways. 
No public access is presently requested or granted onto Garden Acres Road. 

 
Natural Resources Division Conditions: 
 
The following conditions of approval are based on the material submitted by the applicant. Any 
subsequent revisions to the submitted plans may require conditions of approval to be modified by 
staff. 
 
Stormwater Management: 
NR 1. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards, source controls are 

required for fuel dispensing facilities.  
Other: 
NR 2. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s Ordinance No. 482, the applicant shall submit 

an erosion and sedimentation control plan. The following techniques and methods 
shall be incorporated, where necessary:  
a. Gravel construction entrance; 
b. Stockpiles and plastic sheeting; 
c. Sediment fence; 
d. Inlet protection (Silt sacks are recommended); 
e. Dust control;  
f. Temporary/permanent seeding or wet weather measures (e.g. mulch);  
g. Limits of construction; and 
h. Other appropriate erosion and sedimentation control methods. 

NR 3. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements for the 
proposed construction activities and proposed facilities (e.g. DEQ NPDES #1200–C 
permit).  

 
REQUEST C DB15-0053 Site Design Review for Phase 2. 

Planning Division Condition:  

PDC 1. Construction, site development and fencing shall be carried out in substantial accord 
with the Development Review Board approved plans, drawings, sketches, and other 
documents. Minor revisions may be approved by the Planning Director through 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 13 of 45 
 

administrative review pursuant to Section 4.030. 
 
REQUEST D: DB15-0057 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan for Phase 2. 
Planning Division Conditions: 
PDD 1. Prior to removal the Applicant/Owner shall obtain a Type C Tree Permit from the 

Planning Division through the Class I Administrative review process ensuring 
compliance with the approved Type ‘C’ Tree Plan.  

PDD 2. Solvents, building material, construction equipment, soil, or irrigated landscaping, 
shall not be placed within the drip line of any preserved tree, unless a plan for such 
construction activity has been approved by the Planning Director or Development 
Review Board based upon the recommendations of an arborist.  

PDD 3.   Prior to operating the CNG fueling station the Applicant/Owner shall remit payment to 
the City’s Tree Fund for the required three (3) mitigation trees which are included in 
the proposal. See Finding D5. 

PDD 4.   The Applicant/Owner shall install six (6) foot high, chain link tree protection fencing 
along the drip lines of the existing trees within the landscape buffer at SW Garden 
Acres Road and at the the drip line of existing trees along the northerly property line 
of the project site.     

 
MASTER EXHIBIT LIST: 
 
The following exhibits are hereby entered into the public record by the Development Review 
Board as confirmation of its consideration of the application as submitted. This is the exhibit list 
that includes exhibits for Planning Case File DB15-0051 through DB15-0053, 0057 and 0058. 
 
PLANNING STAFF MATERIALS 
A1. Staff report and findings (this document) 
A2. Staff’s PowerPoint Presentation for Public Hearing (to be presented at Public Hearing) 
 
MATERIALS FROM APPLICANT 
B1.  Applicant’s Notebook and Plan Sets: (under separate cover) 

Revised application dated August 28, 2015, Redefined Phasing Plan and Interim Design 
Revisions, Compliance Narrative and Findings, Storm Drainage Report, Prior Approval, AR14-
0069, Lighting Details, and Tax Maps. 

 Reduced Plans  
 Master Plan – 2015 Update  
 PDI Stage II. Phase II Development Plan 
 C-10 CNG Fueling Station, Republic Services – Site Plan 

C-10 1) CNG Fueling Station, Republic Services – General Arrangement and Elevations 
C-10 2) CNG Fueling Station, Republic Services – General Arrangement and Elevations 
1/3  Master Plan – 2015 Update (Stage I Preliminary Plan) 
2/3 Existing Conditions 
3/3 PDI Stage II, Phase 2 Development Plan 
15/15 Irrigation Plans, Notes & Legends 
16/16 Partial Planting Plan 
16B/16 Partial Planting Plan, Legend, Notes & Details 

B2.  Large Format Plans (Under Separate Cover) 
1/3  Master Plan – 2015 Update (Stage I Preliminary Plan) 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 14 of 45 
 

3/3 PDI Stage II, Phase 2 Development Plan 
 

  C1. Natural Resource Conditions from Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Program Manager dated 
August 31, 2015 

C2. City waiver for DKS Transporation Impact Analysis. 

 Engineering Divison conditions of approval: None proposed. 
Building and TVFR conditions of approval: None proposed 
 

 
OTHER CORRESPONDENCE 
 Correspondence in favor (none received) 
 Correspondence opposed (none received) 
 Correspondence neutral (none received) 

 
 
  



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 15 of 45 
 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
1. The statutory 120-day time limit applies to this application. The application was received on 

June 26, 2015. On August 7th, 12th and 28th, 2015 the applicant submitted revised plans. The 
application was deemed complete on August 10 2015. The City must render a final decision 
for the request, including any appeals, by December 8, 2015. 

. 
2. Surrounding land uses are as follows: 

 
Compass Direction Zone: Existing Use: 

North:  FD-20 Future Development 20 acres (Washington Co.) 
East:  PF BPA electrical substation 
South:  PDI Interstate Trucking, Tarr card lock fuel station 
West:  FD-20 Future Development 20 acres (Washington Co.) 

 
3. Prior land use actions include: 

 
• Case File 91PC33 – Stage I Master Plan Willamette Resources  
• Case File 94DR18 – Site Design Review, Willamette Resources 
• Case File 99DB03 – Site Design Review, Keller Drop Boxes 
Phase 1 Improvements (2014) 
• DB14-0032 Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision 
• DB14-0033 Stage II Final Plan 
• DB14-0034 Site Design Review 
• DB14-0035 Type C Tree Plan 
• AR14-0069 Screening outdoor storage. 

 
4. The applicant has complied with Sections 4.013-4.031 of the Wilsonville Code, said sections 

pertaining to review procedures and submittal requirements. The required public notices have 
been sent and all proper notification procedures have been satisfied. 

 
 
  



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 16 of 45 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
 
Review Criteria: This section lists general application procedures applicable to a number of types of land 
use applications and also lists unique features of Wilsonville’s development review process. 
Finding: These criteria are met.  
Details of Finding: The application is being processed in accordance with the applicable general 
procedures of this Section. 
 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
 
Review Criterion: “Except for a Specific Area Plan (SAP), applications involving specific sites may be 
filed only by the owner of the subject property, by a unit of government that is in the process of acquiring 
the property, or by an agent who has been authorized by the owner, in writing, to apply.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The application has been submitted on behalf of the property owner, 
Republic Services. The application form is signed by Mr. Eric Anderson, Republic Services.  
 
Subsection 4.010 (.02) Pre-Application Conference 
 
Review Criteria: This section lists the pre-application process. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The pre-application conference was held in accordance with this subsection. 
 
Subsection 4.011 (.02) B. Lien Payment before Application Approval 
 
Review Criterion: “City Council Resolution No. 796 precludes the approval of any development 
application without the prior payment of all applicable City liens for the subject property. Applicants shall 
be encouraged to contact the City Finance Department to verify that there are no outstanding liens. If the 
Planning Director is advised of outstanding liens while an application is under consideration, the Director 
shall advise the applicant that payments must be made current or the existence of liens will necessitate 
denial of the application.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No applicable liens exist for the subject property. The application can thus 
move forward. 
Section 4.014 Burden of Proof is on the Applicant 
 
Review Criterion: “The burden of proving that the necessary findings of fact can be made for approval 
of any land use or development application rests with the applicant in the case. In the case of an appeal, 
the burden of proof rests with the appellant.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided the necessary findings of fact for approval with 
conditions of the requested development applications in accordance with this Section. 
 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) A. General Site Development Permit Submission Requirements 
 
Review Criteria: “An application for a Site Development Permit shall consist of the materials specified 
as follows, plus any other materials required by this Code.” Listed 1. through 6. j. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 17 of 45 
 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided all of the applicable general submission 
requirements contained in this subsection. 
 
Section 4.110 Zoning-Generally 
 
Review Criteria: “The use of any building or premises or the construction of any development shall be in 
conformity with the regulations set forth in this Code for each Zoning District in which it is located, 
except as provided in Sections 4.189 through 4.192.” “The General Regulations listed in Sections 4.150 
through 4.199 shall apply to all zones unless the text indicates otherwise.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: This proposed development is in conformity with the applicable zoning 
district and general development regulations listed in Sections 4.150 through 4.199 have been 
applied in accordance with this Section. 
 
Section 4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Development in any Zone 
 
Review Criteria: “All industrial development, uses, or activities are subject to performance standards.  If 
not otherwise specified in the Planning and Development Code, industrial developments, uses and 
activities shall be subject to the performance standards specified in Section 4.135 (.05) ((PDI Zone).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: This proposed development is in conformity with the applicable criteria in 
Section 4.135 (.05) as noted below. 
 
Section 4.118 Standards Applying to all Planned Development Zones 
 
Review Criteria: Subsection 4.118 (.01) applies to height guidelines for “S” overlay zones related to 
solar access.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: This criterion is satisfied because an “S” overlay has not been adopted for 
this property. 
 
Review Criteria: Subsection 4.118 (.02) states “Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 
4.300 to 4.320.  All utilities above ground shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site 
and neighboring properties.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: This criterion is satisfied because the development does not propose any 
new or relocated above ground utilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 18 of 45 
 

CONCLUSIONARY FINDINGS 
 

REQUEST A: DB15-0051 STAGE I PRELIMINARY PLAN REVISION  
 
Planned Development Regulations 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations 
 
A1. Review Criterion: The proposed revised Stage I Master Plan shall be consistent with the Planned 

Development Regulations purpose statement. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant asserts the application is consistent with the purpose 
statement and staff concurs based upon the findings in this report. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments 
 
A2. Review Criterion: “Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of 

a size to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
Section 4.140.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The property owned by the applicant, which is the subject of this 
application, is of sufficient size to be developed in a manner consistent the purposes and 
objectives of Section 4.140. The proposed CNG fueling station use and activities can be 
accommodated while retaining existing landscaping and buffering on the site. 

 
A3. Review Criteria: “Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be 

developed as a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned “PD.”  All sites which are greater 
than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, residential, 
or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless approved for other uses 
permitted by the Development Code.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial 
development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial 
(PDI). The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection. The Phase 4 area not currently in the City will be required 
to be annexed and rezoned at the time of Stage II Final Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development 
Application 
 
A4. Review Criterion: “The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must 

be in one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all the 
property included.”  
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The land included in the current application is under the single 
ownership of Republic Services and an authorized representative, Eric Anderson, has 
signed the application.  

 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 19 of 45 
 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments 
 
A5. Review Criteria: “The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 

professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the planning process for 
development. One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant shall be designated to be 
responsible for conferring with the planning staff with respect to the concept and details of the 
plan.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant’s submitted materials, appropriate 
professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Mr. Ben Altman 
of Pioneer Design Group has been designated the coordinator for the planning portion of 
the project.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process 
 
A6. Review Criteria: “All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for 

residential, commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building 
permit: 
1. Be zoned for planned development; 
2. Obtain a planned development permit; and 
3. Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial 
development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. 
The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.06) Stage I Master Plan Consistent with Comprehensive Plan 
 
A7. Review Criteria: “The planning staff shall prepare a report of its findings and conclusions as to 

whether the use contemplated is consistent with the land use designated on the Comprehensive 
Plan.” “The applicant may proceed to apply for Stage I - Preliminary Approval - upon 
determination by either staff or the Development Review Board that the use contemplated is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station, as found elsewhere in this report, 
complies with the Planned Development Industrial zoning designation, which implements 
the Comprehensive Plan designation of ‘Industrial’ for this property. All other applicable 
Development Code criteria that implement the Comprehensive Plan are being met, or will 
be met as conditions of approval. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.07) Stage I Master Plan Application Requirements and Hearing Process 
 
A8. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes that the Development Review Board shall consider a 

Stage I Master Plan after completion or submission of a variety of application requirements. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Review of the proposed Stage I Master Plan revision has been 
scheduled for a public hearing before the Development Review Board in accordance with 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 20 of 45 
 

this subsection and the applicant has met all the applicable submission requirements as 
follows: 
• The property affected by the Stage I Master Plan revision is under the sole ownership 

of Republic Services. The application is signed by Mr. Eric Anderson as an authorized 
representative.  

• The application for a Stage I Master Plan revision has been submitted on a form 
prescribed by the City.  

• The professional design team and coordinator have been identified (See Finding A5). 
• The applicant has described the CNG fueling station use involved in the Master Plan 

revision and its location. 
• Boundary survey information has been provided as part of the lot consolidation legal 

description for the property.  
• Sufficient topographic information has been submitted (In the Reduced Plans tab of 

Exhibit B1). 
• A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various uses has been provided.  
• A project phasing plan has been provided on sheet 1 of 3 in Exhibit B1.  
• Any necessary performance bonds will be required by the City. 
• There are no proposed waivers to site development standards.  

 
Section 4.023 Expiration of Development Approvals 
 
A9. Review Criterion: “Except for Specific Area Plans (SAP), land use and development permits and 

approvals, including both Stage I and Stage II Planned Development approvals, shall be valid for a 
maximum of two years, unless extended as provided in this Section.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is understood the requested approval with expire after two (2) years 
unless extended. 

 
Planned Development Industrial (PDI) Zone 
 
Subsection 4.135 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Industrial Zone 
 
A10. Review Criterion: “The purpose of the PDI zone is to provide opportunities for a variety of 

industrial operations and associated uses.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station use is consistent with the purpose 
of the PDI zone as it includes an industrial service operation as well as associated and 
supportive use.  

 
Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations 
 
A11. Review Criterion: “The PDI Zone shall be governed by Section 4.140, Planned Development 

Regulations, and as otherwise set forth in this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As noted in these findings and the associated Stage I/II and Site 
Design Review application information, the proposal is being reviewed in accordance with 
Section 4.140. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 21 of 45 
 

Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone 
 
A12. Review Criteria: Uses that are typically permitted: Listed A. through T. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station use includes the following listed in 
this subsection: “motor vehicle services”. The existing recycling operation is permitted 
industrial use in the PDI zone.  
 

Subsection 4.135 (.05) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone 
 
A13. Review Criterion: “The PDI zone shall be subject to the same block and access standards as the 

PDC zone, Section 4.131(.02) and (.03).” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station will not affect the established street 
system or existing block sizes. No mixed-use or residential development is proposed 
requiring block spacing defined in Subsection 4.131(.03). 

 
REQUEST B: DB15-0052 STAGE II FINAL PLAN, PHASE 2 REVISION  

 
Planned Development Regulations 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations 
 
B1. Review Criterion: The proposed Stage II Final Plan shall be consistent with the Planned 

Development Regulations purpose statement. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Based on the information provided in the application narrative, staff 
finds that the purpose of the planned development regulations is met by the proposed Stage 
II Final Plan revision, based on the findings in this report. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments 
 
B2. Review Criterion: “Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of 

a size to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
Section 4.140.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject development site is of sufficient size to be developed in a 
manner consistent the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140 as noted in the findings in 
this report. 

 
B3. Review Criteria: “Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be 

developed as a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned ‘PD.’ All sites which are greater 
than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, residential, 
or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless approved for other uses 
permitted by the Development Code.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The 1.93 acre site is less than 2 acres, is designated for industrial 
development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 22 of 45 
 

The property will be developed as a component of a planned development in accordance 
with this subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development 
Application 
 
B4. Review Criterion: “The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must 

be in one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all the 
property included.“ 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The 1.93 acres included in the proposed Stage II Final Plan revision is 
under the single ownership of Republic Services and an authorized representative, Mr. Eric 
Anderson, has signed the application.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments 
 
B5. Review Criteria: “The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 

professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the planning process for 
development. One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant shall be designated to be 
responsible for conferring with the planning staff with respect to the concept and details of the 
plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant’s submitted materials, appropriate 
professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Mr. Ben Altman 
of Pioneer Design Group has been designated the coordinator for the planning portion of 
the project. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process 
 
B6. Review Criteria: “All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for 

residential, commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building 
permit: 
1. Be zoned for planned development; 
2. Obtain a planned development permit; and 
3. Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject 1.93 acres is less than 2 acres, is designated for industrial 
development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. 
The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection.  

 
Stage II Final Plan Submission Requirements and Process 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) A. Timing of Submission 

 
B7. Review Criterion: “Unless an extension has been granted by the Development Review Board, 

within two (2) years after the approval or modified approval of a preliminary development plan 
(Stage I), the applicant shall file with the City Planning Department a final plan for the entire 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 23 of 45 
 

development or when submission in stages has been authorized pursuant to Section 4.035 for the 
first unit of the development” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is submitting a Stage II Master Plan concurrently with a 
Stage I Master Plan.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) B. Determination by Development Review Board 
 
B8. Review Criterion: “the Development Review Board shall determine whether the proposal 

conforms to the permit criteria set forth in this Code, and shall approve, conditionally approve, or 
disapprove the application”. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Development Review Board shall consider all applicable permit 
criteria set forth in the Planning and Land Development Code, and the staff is 
recommending the Development Review Board approve the application with conditions of 
approval. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) C. Conformance with Stage I and Additional Submission Requirements 
 
B9. Review Criteria: “The final plan shall conform in all major respects with the approved 

preliminary development plan, and shall include all information included in the preliminary plan 
plus the following:” listed 1. through 6. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant states, and staff concurs, that the Stage II Final Plan 
revision substantially conforms to the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan revision. 
The applicant has provided the required drawings and other documents showing all the 
additional information required by this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) D. Stage II Final Plan Detail 
 
B10. Review Criterion: “The final plan shall be sufficiently detailed to indicate fully the ultimate 

operation and appearance of the development or phase of development.”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficiently detailed information to 
indicate fully the ultimate operation and appearance of the CNG fueling station, including 
a detailed site plan, CNG compound elevation drawings, and material information to 
review the application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 24 of 45 
 

Applicant’s Table 1 found in Exhibit B1: 

  
 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) E. Submission of Legal Documents 
 
B11. Review Criterion: “Copies of legal documents required by the Development Review Board for 

dedication or reservation of public facilities, or for the creation of a non-profit homeowner’s 
association, shall also be submitted.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional legal documentation is required for dedication or 
reservation of public facilities. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) I. and Section 4.023 Expiration of Stage II Approval 
 
B12. Review Criterion: This subsection and section identify the period for which Stage II approvals are 

valid. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Stage II Final Plan approval, along other associated applications, 
will expire two (2) years after approval, unless an extension is approved in accordance 
with these subsections. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 1. Planned Development Permit Requirements: Conformance with 
Comprehensive Plan and other Applicable Plans and Ordinances 
 
B13. Review Criteria: “The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a whole, are 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, development map or 
Ordinance adopted by the City Council.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 25 of 45 
 

Details of Finding: The subject property is zoned Planned Development Industrial 
consistent with the Industrial designation in the Comprehensive Plan. As noted in this 
report, the location, design, size, and use are consistent with other applicable plans, maps, 
and ordinances, or will be consistent by meeting the recommended conditions of approval. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 2. Planned Development Permit Requirements: Traffic Concurrency 
 
B14. Review Criteria: “That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 

development at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 
congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the Highway Capacity Manual published 
by the National Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned arterial or collector 
streets and will, in the case of commercial or industrial developments, avoid traversing local 
streets.  Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those listed in the City’s adopted 
Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been approved or committed, and that are 
scheduled for completion within two years of occupancy of the development or four year if they 
are an associated crossing, interchange, or approach street  improvement to  Interstate 5.” 
Additional qualifiers and criteria listed a. through e. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The requirement for a Transportation Impact Analysis for the 
proposed development was waived by the Community Development Director per 
Subsection 4.031(.02) B. See Exhibit C4. Therefore, off-site transportation mitigation is 
not necessary. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 3. Planned Development Permit Requirements: Facilities and 
Services Concurrency 
 
B15. Review Criteria: “That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or 

establishments to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned 
facilities and services.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Facilities and services, including utilities, are available and sufficient 
to serve the proposed development.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) L. Adherence to Approved Plan and Modification Thereof 
 
B16. Review Criteria: “The applicant shall agree in writing to be bound, for her/himself and her/his 

successors in interest, by the conditions prescribed for approval of a development.  The approved 
final plan and stage development schedule shall control the issuance of all building permits and 
shall restrict the nature, location and design of all uses.  Minor changes in an approved preliminary 
or final development plan may be approved by the Director of Planning if such changes are 
consistent with the purposes and general character of the development plan. All other 
modifications, including extension or revision of the stage development schedule, shall be 
processed in the same manner as the original application and shall be subject to the same 
procedural requirements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 1. 
Details of Finding: Condition of Approval PDB 1 ensures adherence to approved plans 
except for minor revisions by the Planning Director. 

 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 26 of 45 
 

Industrial Development in Any Zone 
 
Subsection 4.117 (.01) Standards Applying to Industrial Development in Any Zone 
 
B17. Review Criteria: “All industrial developments, uses, or activities are subject to performance 

standards.  If not otherwise specified in the Planning and Development Code, industrial 
developments, uses, and activities shall be subject to the performance standards specified in 
Section 4. 135 (.05) (PDI Zone).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All applicable performance standards are being and will continue to be 
met. See Finding B29.   

 
Standards Applying in All Planned Development Zones 
 
Subsection 4.118 (.01) Additional Height Guidelines 
 
B18. Review Criterion: “In cases that are subject to review by the Development Review Board, the 

Board may further regulate heights as follows:  
A. Restrict or regulate the height or building design consistent with adequate provision of fire 

protection and fire-fighting apparatus height limitations. 
B. To provide buffering of low density developments by requiring the placement of three or 

more story buildings away from the property lines abutting a low density zone. 
C. To regulate building height or design to protect scenic vistas of Mt. Hood or the 

Willamette River.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Staff does not recommend the Development Review Board require a 
height less than what the applicant proposes. The proposed 10’ – 6” height of the canopy 
covering the CNG compound provides for fire protection access, is not adjacent to a low 
density residential zone, and does not impact scenic views of Mt. Hood or the Willamette 
River. 

 
Subsection 4.118 (.02) Underground Utilities 
 
B19. Review Criteria: “Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320.  All 

utilities above ground shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and 
neighboring properties.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All additional utilities on the property were installed underground.  

 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) Waivers 
 
B20. Review Criteria: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the 

Development Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, 
and based on findings of fact supported by the record may” waive a number of standards as listed 
in A. through E.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: There are no proposed waivers to site development standards.  
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 27 of 45 
 

Subsection 4.118 (.03) E. Other Requirements or Restrictions 
 
B21. Review Criteria: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the 

Development Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, 
and based on findings of fact supported by the record may adopt other requirements or restrictions, 
inclusive of, but not limited to, the following:” Listed 1 through 12. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional requirements or restrictions are recommended pursuant 
to this subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.118 (.05) Requirements to Set Aside Tracts for Certain Purposes 
 
B22. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director, Development Review Board, or on appeal, the City 

Council, may as a condition of approval for any development for which an application is submitted, 
require that portions of the tract or tracts under consideration be set aside, improved, conveyed or 
dedicated for the following uses:” Recreational Facilities, Open Space Area, Easements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional tracts are being required for the purposes given.   

 
Planned Development Industrial Zone 
 
Subsection 4.135 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Industrial Zone 
 
B23. Review Criterion: “The purpose of the PDI zone is to provide opportunities for a variety of 

industrial operations and associated uses.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station use is consistent with the purpose 
of the PDI zone as they include industrial operations as well as associated and supportive 
uses.  

 
Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations 
 
B24. Review Criterion: “The PDI Zone shall be governed by Section 4.140, Planned Development 

Regulations, and as otherwise set forth in this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As described in the findings for this request and associated Stage I /II 
and Site Design Review requests, the proposed CNG fueling station use is being reviewed 
in accordance with Section 4.140. 

 
Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone 
 
B25. Review Criteria: “Uses that are typically permitted:” Listed A. through T. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed uses include the following listed in this subsection: E. 
“Motor vehicle services, or other services complimentary or incidental to primary uses, and 
which support the primary uses by allowing more efficient or cost-effective operations.”  
The proposed CNG fueling station use is appropriate within the PDI Zone. 

 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 28 of 45 
 

Subsection 4.135 (.04) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone 
 
B26. Review Criteria: “The PDI zone shall be subject to the same block and access standards as the 

PDC zone, Section 4.131(.02) and (.03).”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The previously approved block spacing and access is not being 
changed. In addition, Section 4.131(.02) is not relevant to this application and Section 
4.131(.03) only applies to residential or mixed-use development – not industrial uses.   

 
Subsection 4.135 (.05) Industrial Performance Standards 
 
B27. Review Criteria: “The following performance standards apply to all industrial properties and sites 

within the PDI Zone, and are intended to minimize the potential adverse impacts of industrial 
activities on the general public and on other land uses or activities.  They are not intended to 
prevent conflicts between different uses or activities that may occur on the same property.” 
Standards listed A. through N. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 2 
and PDB 3. 
Details of Finding: The proposed project meets the performance standards of this 
subsection as follows: 
• Pursuant to standard A (enclosure of uses and activities), the applicant is requesting 

to relocate outdoor storage for the drop box containers to the east side of the 
Republic Services property, and to relocate the storage of residential bins to the north 
side of the property for which staff is recommending approval. Existing employee 
and visitor vehicle parking on the site is proposed to remain essentially unchanged. 

• Pursuant to standard B (vibrations), there is no indication that the  proposed CNG 
use of the site will produce vibrations detectable off site without instruments.  

• Pursuant to standard C (emissions), the current operation has given no indication that 
odorous gas or other odorous matter is or will be produced.   

• Pursuant to standard D (open storage), the CNG fueling station will have landscape 
and install slatted fence screening along the frontage of SW Ridder Road and SW 
Garden Acres Road according to the development code standards.  

• Pursuant to standard E (night operations and residential areas), the recycling use is 
not in the vicinity of any residential areas. The closest residences are located a 
significant distance to the west and north. 

• Pursuant to standard F (heat and glare), there is no indication that the  proposed CNG 
use of the CNG fueling station operations will produce consequential amounts of 
heat or glare, and the residential uses in the vicinity are a sufficient distance away to 
not be affected. 

• Pursuant to standard G (dangerous substances), there are no prohibited dangerous 
substances expected on the development site. 

• Pursuant to standard H (liquid and solid wastes), staff has no evidence to suggest that 
the standards defined for liquid and solid waste in this subsection have been or 
would be violated. 

• Pursuant to standard I (noise), the current Republic Services operation has not 
violated the City’s Noise Ordinance and the proposed CNG fueling station would 
generate low noise levels.  



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 29 of 45 
 

• Pursuant to standard J (electrical disturbances), staff has no evidence to suggest that 
any prohibited electrical disturbances have been or would be produced by the 
proposed CNG fueling station operations. 

• Pursuant to standard K (discharge of air pollutants), staff has no evidence to suggest 
that any prohibited discharges have been or would be produced by the proposed 
project. 

• Pursuant to standard L (open burning), no open burning is proposed on the 
development site. 

• Pursuant to standard M (outdoor storage), the current and proposed outdoor storage 
areas are properly paved and appropriately screened. 

 
Subsection 4.135 (.06) Other PDI Standards 
 
B28. Review Criteria: This section lists other standards of the PDI zone including: minimum individual 

lot size, maximum lot coverage, front yard setback, rear and side yard setback, corner vision, off 
street parking and loading, and signs. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed development meets these standards as follows: 
• The property is of sufficient size to allow for the required amount of landscaping, 

parking, and other applicable site requirements along with lot coverage of the proposed 
development. 

• The required thirty foot (30’) front, rear, and side yard requirements will be met.  
• The vision clearance standards of Section 4.177 are met. 
• Off-street parking and loading requirements are or will be met.  
• No new signs are proposed.  

 
Section 4.139.02 Applicability of SROZ Regulations 
 
B29. Review Criteria: This section identifies where the Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) 

regulations apply. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: None of the proposed development is within the SROZ or its impact 
area, thus the SROZ regulations do not apply.    

Section 4.139.04 Uses and Activities Exempt from SROZ Regulations 
 
B30. Review Criteria: This section identifies the uses and activities exempt from SROZ regulations. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: None of the proposed development is within the SROZ or its impact 
area, thus the SROZ regulations do not apply.   

 
On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 1. Continuous Pathway System 
 
B31. Review Criterion: “A pedestrian pathway system shall extend throughout the development site 

and connect to adjacent sidewalks, and to all future phases of the development, as applicable.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 5. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 30 of 45 
 

Explanation of Finding: The property was initially developed with close proximity 
between the employee parking and the business offices and entrance on the east side of the 
existing building. Trucks circulate around the perimeter of the building, and the major 
truck access to the recycling facility (MRF) is located on the southwest side of the existing 
building.  
 
Last year’s maintenance building development in Phase 1 presented a unique situation 
where the truck driveway entrance into the building is central to the site. The grade change 
associated with the truck entry and maneuvering trucks made a pedestrian walkway 
between the existing and proposed offices impractical and potentially dangerous. Phase 1 
does provide pedestrian paths between the parking adjacent to the building and the 
building allowing a safe place for access from the parking area to the maintenance 
building.  
 
There is no practical way to confine employees at designated walkways while they are 
fueling trucks within the CNG facility.  

 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient Pathways 
 
B32. Review Criteria: “Pathways within developments shall provide safe, reasonably direct, and 

convenient connections between primary building entrances and all adjacent parking areas, 
recreational areas/playgrounds, and public rights-of-way and crosswalks based on all of the 
following criteria: 

a. Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and 
convenience, meaning they are free from hazards and provide a reasonably 
smooth and consistent surface.  

b.  The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when it 
follows a route between destinations, which do not involve a significant amount 
of unnecessary out-of-direction travel. 

c. The pathway connects to all primary building entrances and is consistent with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements. 

 d. All parking lots larger than three acres in size shall provide an internal bicycle 
and pedestrian pathway pursuant to Section 4.155(.03)(B.)(3.)(d.).” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As noted above, the existing site layout presents significant 
challenges to provide safe and direct connections. Pedestrian facilities were provided in the 
area of the site for the recent maintenance building development in Phase 1.  

 
Parking and Loading  
 
Subsection 4.155 (.02) General Parking Provisions 
 
B33. Review Criteria: This subsection lists a number of general provisions for parking. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficient information demonstrating 
compliance with the provisions in this subsection applicable to Stage II Final Plan review. 
Staff specifically notes the following: 
• In relation to provision A no waivers to parking standards have been requested 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 31 of 45 
 

• In relation to provisions B and C current parking is provided meeting code. 
• Provision E is not relevant because the parking is not shared by multiple property 

owners. 
• In relation to provisions D and F parking for the current development was calculated 

summing the requirements of different uses and considering existing parking. 
• In relation to provision K current parking is paved and provided with adequate 

drainage.  
• In relation to provision L compliance with the outdoor lighting ordinance and 

vegetative screening will prevent artificial lighting from shining into adjoining 
structures or affecting passersby. 

• In relation to provision M all the proposed uses are listed in the Code. 
• In relation to provision N no compact parking stalls are proposed nor are they required. 
• In relation to provision O all current planting areas that vehicles may overhang are 7 

feet or greater in depth. 
 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) A. Functional Design of Parking, Loading, and Delivery Areas  
 
B34. Review Criteria: “Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be designed with access and 

maneuvering area adequate to serve the functional needs of the site and shall: 
1. Separate loading and delivery areas and circulation from customer and/or employee 

parking and pedestrian areas.  Circulation patterns shall be clearly marked. 
2. To the greatest extent possible, separate vehicle and pedestrian traffic.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 5. 
Details of Finding: Access and maneuvering areas have been designed to applicable 
standards. No evidence exists that they would not serve the functional needs of the 
proposed CNG fueling station development. The primary employee parking and pedestrian 
areas are immediately west of the entrances to existing office/maintenance buildings, while 
the loading and delivery area is located on south side of the interior of the maintenance 
building. As noted above, achieving the complete separation of vehicle and pedestrian 
traffic is not practical on this site because of offices located on both sides of the site with 
grade changes and truck maneuvering area in between.  

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 1.-3. Parking Area Landscaping 
 
B35. Review Criteria: “Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be landscaped to minimize the 

visual dominance of the parking or loading area, as follows:” Listed 1. through 3. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Approximatelly 28% of the site area is planted landscaping. Perimeter 
landscaping was recently installed along SW Ridder Road and SW Garden Acres Road.  

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) C. Parking and Loading Areas-Safe and Convenient Access 
 
B36. Review Criterion: “Be designed for safe and convenient access that meets ADA and ODOT 

standards.  All parking areas which contain ten (10) or more parking spaces, shall for every fifty 
(50) standard spaces, provide one ADA-accessible parking space that is constructed to building 
code standards, Wilsonville Code 9.000.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 32 of 45 
 

Details of Finding: There currently are 3 ADA spaces. The site currently has 81 vehicle 
car spaces. The proposed CNG fueling station will not require additional parking. 
Therefore, the existing parking easily meets this standard. The number of ADA spaces 
exceeds the code requirements. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) G. Parking Minimum and Maximum  
 
B37. Review Criteria: “Tables 5, below, shall be used to determine the minimum and maximum 

parking standards for various land uses.  The minimum number of required parking spaces shown 
on Tables 5 shall be determined by rounding to the nearest whole parking space.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 11. 
Details of Finding: Due to the lack of pedestrian connectivity across the site, it is not 
practical to expect someone to park in the existing parking area near the existing offices 
and walk to the proposed CNG fueling station. Parking areas on different sides of the site 
are not cross functional.  
 
For proposed revised Phase 2 the parking requirement are:   
 

Use Floor Area Min Max Min Required 
Existing  
Maintenance 
Building Addition 

13,750 
1.6 per 
1,000 
SF 

none 22 22 

Proposed CNG 
Fueling Station 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Twelve (12) additional parking spaces were constructed along the north side of the 
property near the maintenance building to satisfy the minimum requirement. These 
parking spaces will be temporary as the parking requirements will be fully met with the 
parking area proposed with Phase 3 (future office building). The tree and landscaping 
requirements for these 12 additional spaces are met by existing trees and vegetation along 
the north property line. 
 

Applicant’s Table 3 
2015 proposed parking, with CNG Fueling 

Type Parking West Side Fleet Maintenance East Side MRF & 
Administration 

Cars std. 20 58 
ADA 1 2 

Delivery Truck 1  
Trucks 58, replaces box storage  
Trailers  17 

Drop Boxes  Replaces truck parking. 
Temp. Offices  3 

 
For the proposed CNG fueling station vehicle and bicycle parking requirements is none 
because no structure is involved. 

 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 33 of 45 
 

For Phase 3 the parking requirement is: 
 

Use 
Floor 

Area/Seats Min Max Min Max 

Future Office 
Building  3,960 2.7 per 

1000 SF 

4.1 per 
1000 
SF 

11 17 

   
Total 33 none 

 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
 
B38. Review Criterion: “Each access onto streets or private drives shall be at defined points as 

approved by the City and shall be consistent with the public's health, safety and general welfare.  
Such defined points of access shall be approved at the time of issuance of a building permit if not 
previously determined in the development permit.”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The two existing access drives serving the development have been 
approved by the City.  

 
Natural Features 
 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 

 
B39. Review Criteria: This section provides for the protection of a number of natural features and other 

resources including: general terrain preparation, hillsides, trees and wooded areas, high voltage 
powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements, earth movement hazard 
areas, soil hazard areas, historic resources, and cultural resources. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As noted herein, there are no significant natural features or resources 
on the site.  

 
Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
 
Subsection 4.175 (.01) Design to Deter Crime and Ensure Public Safety 
 
B40. Review Criteria: “All developments shall be designed to deter crime and insure public safety.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The design of the site and buildings places the entrances, parking and 
pedestrian circulation areas in locations that are generally observable from multiple 
vantage points. This along with the proposed exterior lighting for the CNG fueling station 
is expected to result in a safe environment for all people working at or visiting the site.  

 
Landscaping Standards 
 
Subsection 4.176 (.01) Purpose of Landscape, Screening, and Buffering 
 
B41. Review Criteria: “This Section consists of landscaping and screening standards and regulations 

for use throughout the City.  The regulations address materials, placement, layout, and timing of 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 34 of 45 
 

installation.  The City recognizes the ecological and economic value of landscaping and requires 
the use of landscaping and other screening or buffering to:” Listed A. through K. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: In complying with the various landscape standards in Section 4.176 
the applicant has demonstrated the proposed revised Stage II Final Plan is in compliance 
with existing landscaping. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. Landscaping Standards and Code Compliance 
 
B42. Review Criteria: “All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of 

the provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code.  The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher standards can 
be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met.  Where the standards set a 
minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they shall be interpreted as applying to each 
complete or partial increment of area or length” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No waivers or variances to landscape standards have been requested. 
All current landscaping and screening comply with standards of this section.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 1. General Landscape Standards-Intent 
 
B43. Review Criteria: “The General Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment for areas that are 

generally open.  It is intended to apply in situations where distance is used as the principal means 
of separating uses or developments and landscaping is required to enhance the intervening space. 
Landscaping may include a mixture of ground cover, evergreen and deciduous shrubs, and 
coniferous and deciduous trees.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The existing landscape treatment at 28.3% coverage for Republic 
Services property wide has a variety of plant materials and placement consistent with the 
general landscape standard.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 2. General Landscape Standards-Required Materials 
 
B44. Review Criteria: “Shrubs and trees, other than street trees, may be grouped.  Ground cover plants 

must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area (see Figure 21:  General Landscaping).  The 
General Landscaping Standard has two different requirements for trees and shrubs: 
a. Where the landscaped area is less than 30 feet deep, one tree is required for every 30 linear 

feet. 
b. Where the landscaped area is 30 feet deep or greater, one tree is required for every 800 

square feet and two high shrubs or three low shrubs are required for every 400 square 
feet.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The current landscape treatment site wide for Republic Services meets 
the functional requirements of this subsection.   

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) E. 2. High Screen Standard-Required Materials 
 
B45. Review Criteria: “Sufficient high shrub to form a continuous screen at least 6 feet high and 95% 

opaque, year-round.  In addition, 1 tree is required for every 30 linear feet of landscaped area, or as 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 35 of 45 
 

otherwise required to provide a tree canopy over the landscaped area.  Ground cover plans must 
fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area.  A 6-foot high masonry wall or a berm may be 
substituted for the shrubs, but the trees and frond cover plants are still required.  When applied 
along street lot lines, the screen or wall is to be placed along the interior side of the landscaped area 
(see figure 23: High Screen Landscaping.” 
Finding: These criteria may be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 3. 
Details of Finding: The current landscape treatment along SW Ridder Road and SW 
Garden Acres Road meets the functional requirements of this subsection. A new 6 foot 
high chain link fence with vinyl slats will be installed inside of the current landscape buffer 
to provide addition screening of the proposed CNG fueling station.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations 
 
B46. Review Criteria: “Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 

with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by 
section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  
Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which 
must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to structures.  
Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and off-street 
parking areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant forms, 
textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Approximately 30% (28.3% landscaped + 1.7% unimproved) of the 
overall Republic Services property is landscaped in more than three distinct areas, 
including the frontage areas along SW Ridder Road and SW Garden Acres Road.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening 
 
B47. Review Criteria: “Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 

4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 
C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be screened 

from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 
D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has 

been approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting 
on a development permit. 

E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be designed 
to screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 

F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of 
fence line shall require Development Review Board approval.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As discussed above, there is sufficient existing screening along SW 
Ridder Road and SW Garden Acres Road frontages, where a combination of plantings, 
fencing and street trees along the street right-of-way and other screening are expected to 
provide appropriate screening. Staff finds that this will be sufficient to screen the proposed 
CNG fueling station.   

 
 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 36 of 45 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.09) Landscape Plans 
 
B48. Review Criteria: “Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 

landscape areas.  Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, installation size, number and 
placement of materials.  Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by both 
their scientific and common names. The condition of any existing plants and the proposed method 
of irrigation are also to be indicated.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Applicant’s Plan Sheets 15, 16 and 16B in the Reduced Plans tab of 
Exhibit B1 provide the required information. 

 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) General Conformance with Public Works Standards and TSP 
 
B49. Review Criteria: “Except as specifically approved by the Development Review Board, all street 

and access improvements shall conform to the Transportation Systems Plan and the Public Works 
Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As part of the engineering permit process and inspections, 
conformance with the standards will be ensured.  

 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) B. Curbs, Utility Strips, and Sidewalks Required 
 
B50. Review Criteria: “All streets shall be developed with curbs, utility strips and sidewalks on both 

sides; or a sidewalk on one side and a bike path on the other side.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Conditions of Approval in case files DB14-0033 require the right-of-
way dedication to enable full build out of SW Ridder Road to TSP standards.  

 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) E. Access Drives and Travel Lanes 
 
B51. Review Criteria: This subsection sets standards for access drives and travel lanes. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 10 
of DB14-0032 and 0033. 
Details of Finding:  

• Existing drives provide a clear travel lane, free from obstructions.  
• Existing drives are asphalt and are capable of carrying a 23-ton load. 
• Existing emergency access lanes are improved to a minimum of 12 feet and the 

development has been reviewed and approved by the Fire District. 
• The access provided is sufficient for the intended function of the site. 

 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) F. Corner or Clear Visions Area 
 
B52. Review Criteria: “A clear vision area which meets the Public Works Standards shall be 

maintained on each corner of property at the intersection of any two streets, a street and a railroad 
or a street and a driveway.  However, the following items shall be exempt from meeting this 
requirement:” Listed a. through e. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 37 of 45 
 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Clear vision area criteria have been reviewed by Engineering Staff and 
were met with last year’s DRB review of the maintenance building. 

 
Sections 4.199.10 through4.199.60  Outdoor Lighting 
 
B53. Review Criterion: This section establish the City standards for Outdoor Lighting. A complete 

listing of the standards are on pages 53-57 of the applicant’s narrative, see Compliance Narrative 
and Findings tab of Exhibit B1. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As further explained by the applicant in the Compliance Narrative and 
Findings tab of Exhibit B1 (Lighting Details), the proposed new lighting for the CNG 
fueling station complies with the prescriptive option, does not constitute a major addition, 
and is exempt from lighting curfew. New lighting discussed is limited to pole lighting.  

 
 

REQUEST C: DB15-0053 SITE DESIGN REVIEW 
 
Site Design Review 
 
Subsection 4.400 (.01) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness of 
Design, Etc. 
 
C1. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 

objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Excessive uniformity, 
inappropriateness or poor design of the exterior appearance of structures and signs and the lack of 
proper attention to site development and landscaping in the business, commercial, industrial and 
certain residential areas of the City hinders the harmonious development of the City, impairs the 
desirability of residence, investment or occupation in the City, limits the opportunity to attain the 
optimum use in value and improvements, adversely affects the stability and value of property, 
produces degeneration of property in such areas and with attendant deterioration of conditions 
affecting the peace, health and welfare, and destroys a proper relationship between the taxable 
value of property and the cost of municipal services therefor.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Staff summarizes the compliance with this subjection as follows: 
Excessive Uniformity: The design of the CNG fueling station has one except small metal 
framed canopy to cover the CNG compound. It will be a metal structure similar to the 
other buildings on the site. 
Inappropriate or Poor Design of the Exterior Appearance of Structures: Staff finds that the 
CNG fueling station is very utilitarian including compressors, tanks, dual hose fill posts to 
serve Republic Services trucks, etc. The proposed CNG compound electrical control 
canopy would be an open steel framed structure. There is no architectural asset for such a 
facility so the site plan is depending on existing perimeter landscaping to screen it from off-
site view.  
Lack of Proper Attention to Site Development: The appropriate professional services have 
been used to design the site incorporating unique features of the site including site size and 
shape and available access, demonstrating appropriate attention being given to site 
development. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 38 of 45 
 

Lack of Proper Attention to Landscaping: Professional designed The current landscape 
treatment has a variety of plant materials, all demonstrating appropriate attention being 
given to landscaping.  

 
Section 4.420 Site Design Review-Jurisdiction and Power of the Board 
 
C2. Review Criteria: The section states the jurisdiction and power of the Development Review Board 

in relation to site design review including the application of the section, that development is 
required in accord with plans, and variance information. 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDC 1. 
Details of Finding: A condition of approval has been included to ensure construction, site 
and development are carried out in substantial accord with the Development Review Board 
approved plans, drawings, sketches, and other documents.  

 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) Site Design Review-Design Standards 
 
C3. Review Criteria: “The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, 

drawings, sketches and other documents required for Site Design Review. These standards are 
intended to provide a frame of reference for the applicant in the development of site and building 
plans as well as a method of review for the Board. These standards shall not be regarded as 
inflexible requirements.  They are not intended to discourage creativity, invention and innovation.  
The specifications of one or more particular architectural styles is not included in these standards.” 
Listed A through G.   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficient information demonstrating 
compliance with the standards of this subsection in the compliance narrative.  

 
Section 4.156 Signs 
 
C4. Review Criteria: This section contains the sign regulations for the City. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No signs are proposed. 

 
Landscaping 
 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. Landscape Standards and Compliance with Code 
 
C5. Review Criterion: “All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of 

the provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code.  The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher standards can 
be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met.  Where the standards set a 
minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they shall be interpreted as applying to each 
complete or partial increment of area or length” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No waivers or variances to landscape standards have been requested. 
Thus all current landscaping and screening complies with standards of this section. 

 
 
 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 39 of 45 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 2. General Landscape Standards-Required Materials 
 
C6. Review Criteria: “Shrubs and trees, other than street trees, may be grouped.  Ground cover plants 

must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area (see Figure 21:  General Landscaping).  The 
General Landscaping Standard has two different requirements for trees and shrubs: 
a. Where the landscaped area is less than 30 feet deep, one tree is required for every 30 linear 

feet. 
b. Where the landscaped area is 30 feet deep or greater, one tree is required for every 800 

square feet and two high shrubs or three low shrubs are required for every 400 square feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The existing landscape treatment for the Republic Services meets the 
plant material and spacing requirements of this subsection. The landscaping along SW 
Ridder Road was also recently extended along SW Garden Acres Road. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) E. 2. High Screen Standard-Required Materials 
 
C7. Review Criteria: “Sufficient high shrub to form a continuous screen at least 6 feet high and 95% 

opaque, year-round.  In addition, 1 tree is required for every 30 linear feet of landscaped area, or as 
otherwise required to provide a tree canopy over the landscaped area.  Ground cover plans must 
fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area.  A 6-foot high masonry wall or a berm may be 
substituted for the shrubs, but the trees and frond cover plants are still required.  When applied 
along street lot lines, the screen or wall is to be placed along the interior side of the landscaped area 
(see figure 23: High Screen Landscaping.” 
Finding: These criteria may be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 3. 
Details of Finding: The landscape buffer along SW Ridder Road and SW Garden Acres 
Road meet the functional requirements of this subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations 
 
C8. Review Criteria: “Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 

with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by 
section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  
Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which 
must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to structures.  
Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and off-street 
parking areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant forms, 
textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Approximately 28.3% of the site is covered in landscaping meeting 
code. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening 
 
C9. Review Criteria: “Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 

4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 
C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be 

screened from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 40 of 45 
 

D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has 
been approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting 
on a development permit.  

E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be 
designed to screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 

F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of 
fenceline shall require Development Review Board approval.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 3. 
Details of Finding: As discussed above, there is sufficient screening along the SW Ridder 
Road and SW Garden Acres Road frontages, where a combination of plantings and street 
trees along the street right-of-way and other screening are expected to provide appropriate 
screening. Staff finds that this will be sufficient to screen the proposed CNG fueling station 
from offsite view.   

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) A. Plant Materials-Shrubs and Groundcover 
 
C10. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material and planting requirements for shrubs 

and ground cover. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied by current landscaping. 
Details of Finding: There is existing landscaping.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) B. Plant Materials-Trees 
 
C11. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material requirements for trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied by current landscaping. 
Details of Finding:  
 

Subsection 4.176 (.06) C. Plant Materials-Large Buildings 
 
C12. Review Criteria: “Where a proposed development includes buildings larger than twenty-four (24) 

feet in height or greater than 50,000 square feet in footprint area, the Development Review Board 
may require larger or more mature plant materials:” Listed 1.-3. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The recently planted trees between SW Garden Acres Road and the 
proposed site of the CNG fueling station will have mature heights. At SW Ridder Road, 
street trees, comprise Red Sunset maples, evergreens, and Douglas fir, will be retained. In 
addition, more trees were planted along the new driveway, which will also provide tree 
screening with Red Sunset maples, Austrian pine, and Douglas firs. All of these trees have 
mature heights that are greater than 24 feet.  
 

Subsection 4.176 (.06) D. Plant Materials-Street Trees 
 
C13. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material requirements for street trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Red Sunset Maples on 30-foot center with 2-inch caliper were planted 
along the portion of the SW Ridder Road frontage, which did not have street trees. These 
trees complement the existing street trees on the eastern portion of the property frontage. 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 41 of 45 
 

The new street trees are listed as a satisfactory street tree in this subsection. Similar tree 
plantings are at SW Garden Acres Road frontage. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) E. Types of Plant Species 
C14. Review Criteria: This subsection discusses use of existing landscaping or native vegetation, 

selection of plant materials, and prohibited plant materials. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The current landscape treatment meets the standards of this 
subsection. 

 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
 
C15. Review Criteria: This section establishes standards for sidewalks and pathways. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The current access improvements and improvements within the street 
right-of-way are consistent with the proposed Stage II Final Plan for the CNG fueling 
station and purpose of site design review.  

 
Sections 4.199.10 through 4.199.60 Outdoor Lighting 
 
C16. Review Criterion: This section establish the City standards for Outdoor Lighting. A complete 

listing of the standards are on pages 49 - 51 of the applicant’s narrative, see Compliance Narrative 
and Findings tab of Exhibit B1. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on pages 49 - 52 of their 
narrative and supporting compliance report, see Compliance Narrative and Findings tab of 
Exhibit B1, the proposed new lighting complies with the prescriptive option, does not 
constitute a major addition, and is exempt from lighting curfew. New lighting is limited to 
7 new dual head lighting fixtures on 20 foot poles and dual head lights, one at each end of 
the K-rail runs and one in the center of the K-rail run. This configuration will be the same 
for both the central and south parking lots.  

 
REQUEST D: DB15-0057 TYPE ‘C’ TREE PLAN 

 
Subsection 4.600.50 (.03) A. Access to Site for Tree Related Observation 
 
D1. Review Criterion: “By submission of an application, the applicant shall be deemed to have 

authorized City representatives to have access to applicant’s property as may be needed to verify 
the information provided, to observe site conditions, and if a permit is granted, to verify that terms 
and conditions of the permit are followed.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 1. 
Details of Finding: In previous site development permits the applicant agreed to ensure 
the required access is allowed. 

 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.03) B. Type C Tree Removal Review Authority 
 
D2. Review Criterion: “Type C.  Where the site is proposed for development necessitating site plan 

review or plat approval by the Development Review Board, the Development Review Board shall 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 42 of 45 
 

be responsible for granting or denying the application for a Tree Removal Permit, and that decision 
may be subject to affirmance, reversal or modification by the City Council, if subsequently 
reviewed by the Council.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Three (3) trees are located within SW Gardens Acres Road right-of-
way and are adjacent to the CNG equipment compound site. The applicant is proposing to 
remove those trees which are shown on Sheet 2 of 3 for Existing Conditions. See page 1 of 
the Arborist’s Report in Exhibit B1. The tree numbers are 7566 – 7568. They are English 
hawthorn in poor condition. Eventually, additional street trees would be planted when SW 
Garden Acres road improvments occur.  
 
The applicant has indicated to staff that the proposed tree removal should be Type ‘B’ 
process, not requiring DRB review. To the contrary, Subsection 4.610.40(.01) requires 
Type ‘C’ DRB process connected to site plan review by the DRB for the proposed 
development. The requested tree removal is connected to site plan review by the 
Development Review Board for the proposed development. The tree removal is thus being 
reviewed by the DRB. The applicant is proposing to pay into the City Tree Fund instead of 
replacing the three trees which is allowed by code.  
 

Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) A. Conditions Attached to Type C Tree Permits 
 
D3. Review Criterion: “Conditions.  Attach to the granting of the permit any reasonable conditions 

considered necessary by the reviewing authority including, but not limited to, the recording of any 
plan or agreement approved under this subchapter, to ensure that the intent of this Chapter will be 
fulfilled and to minimize damage to, encroachment on or interference with natural resources and 
processes within wooded areas;” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The conditions of approval related to trees and landscaping will ensure 
this criterion is satisfied, and no additional conditions are recommended pursuant to this 
subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) B. Completion of Operation 
 
D4. Review Criterion: “Whenever an application for a Type B, C or D Tree Removal Permit is 

granted, the reviewing authority shall:” “Fix a reasonable time to complete tree removal 
operations;” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is understood all tree removal activity will occur concurrently with 
the site development, and it must be completed prior to occupancy of the development. 
Staff concludes this is a reasonable time frame for completing the tree removal. 

 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) B. Completion of Operation 
 
D5. Review Criterion: “Whenever an application for a Type B, C or D Tree Removal Permit is 

granted, the reviewing authority shall:” “Require the Type C permit grantee to file with the City a 
cash or corporate surety bond or irrevocable bank letter of credit in an amount determined 
necessary by the City to ensure compliance with Tree Removal Permit conditions and this Chapter. 
1. This requirement may be waived by the Planning Director if the tree removal must be 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 43 of 45 
 

completed before a plat is recorded, and the applicant has complied with WC 4.264(1) of this 
Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All the required mitigation trees are included in the proposal to 
payment to the City’s Tree Fund. Prior to operating the CNG fueling station the 
Applicant/Owner shall remit payment to the City’s Tree Fund for all the required 
mitigation trees which are included in the proposal. See proposed Condition PPD 3. 

 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) Standards for Tree Removal, Relocation or Replacement 
 
D6. Review Criteria: “Except where an application is exempt, or where otherwise noted, the following 

standards shall govern the review of an application for a Type A, B, C or D Tree Removal Permit:” 
Listed A. through J. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The tree removal satisfies the applicable standards of this subsection 
because: 
A. The trees are not located within an SROZ  
B. Tree preservation is important, but the trees are part of the existing perimeter landscaping 

for the existing parking and storage area, which need to be expanded. 
C. No wooded areas are being affected by the removal. 
D. The land clearing, which is prompting the tree removal, is necessary to expand the use. 
E. Residential development is not proposed, and therefore this subsection is not relevant. 
F. The development will comply with all other requirements, and no waivers are requested. 
G.  The applicant is providing a minimum of 1 for 1 payment to the City’s Tree Fund of the 

tree (3) regulated trees to be removed within SW Garden Acres Road right of way that are 
in poor condition. Those trees are adjacent to CNG equipment compound site.     

H. The applicant has held the tree removal to the absolute minimum, and the tree removal is 
necessary to allow reasonable and permitted expansion of the use. 

I. A tree survey was completed for the property by a professional arborist. 
 
Subsection 4.610.40 (.01) Type C Tree Plan Reviewed with Stage II Final Plan 
 
D7. Review Criteria: “Approval to remove any trees on property as part of a site development 

application may be granted in a Type C permit.  A Type C permit application shall be reviewed by 
the standards of this subchapter and all applicable review criteria of Chapter 4.  Application of the 
standards of this section shall not result in a reduction of square footage or loss of density, but may 
require an applicant to modify plans to allow for buildings of greater height. If an applicant 
proposes to remove trees and submits a landscaping plan as part of a site development application, 
an application for a Tree Removal Permit shall be included. The Tree Removal Permit application 
will be reviewed in the Stage II development review process, and any plan changes made that 
affect trees after Stage II review of a development application shall be subject to review by DRB.  
Where mitigation is required for tree removal, such mitigation may be considered as part of the 
landscaping requirements as set forth in this Chapter. Tree removal shall not commence until 
approval of the required Stage II application and the expiration of the appeal period following that 
decision.  If a decision approving a Type C permit is appealed, no trees shall be removed until the 
appeal has been settled.” 
Finding: Because the proposed three trees to be removed are in poor condition the 
applicant may be requesting an early grading permit after the DRB approval of which the 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 44 of 45 
 

City is willing to work with the applicant to remove the trees prior to expiration of the 
appeal period.  
Details of Finding: The proposed Type C Tree Removal Plan is being reviewed 
concurrently with the Stage II Final Plan.  

 
Section 4.610.40 (.02) Submission of Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
 
D8. Review Criteria: “The applicant must provide ten copies of a Tree Maintenance and Protection 

Plan completed by an arborist that contains the following information:” Listed A. 1. through A. 7. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is not proposing Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
since he is proposing payment to the City’s Tree Fund for tree mitigation.  

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.01) Tree Replacement Requirement 
 
D9. Review Criterion: “A Type B or C Tree Removal Permit grantee shall replace or relocate each 

removed tree having six (6) inches or greater d.b.h. within one year of removal.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 2 
Details of Finding: The applicant is not proposing on-site tree replacement since he is 
proposing payment to the City’s Tree Fund for tree mitigation.  

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.02) Basis for Determining Replacement 
 
D10. Review Criteria: “The permit grantee shall replace removed trees on a basis of one (1) tree 

replanted for each tree removed.  All replacement trees must measure two inches (2”) or more in 
diameter.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is not proposing tree replacement since he is proposing 
payment to the City’s Tree Fund for tree mitigation.  

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.03) Replacement Tree Requirements 
 
D11. Review Criteria: “A mitigation or replacement tree plan shall be reviewed by the City prior to 

planting and according to the standards of this subsection. 
A. Replacement trees shall have shade potential or other characteristics comparable to the 

removed trees, shall be appropriately chosen for the site from an approved tree species list 
supplied by the City, and shall be state Department of Agriculture Nursery Grade No. 1 or 
better.  

B. Replacement trees must be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall be guaranteed by the 
permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest for two (2) years after the planting 
date. 

C. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased during that time shall be replaced. 
D. Diversity of tree species shall be encouraged where trees will be replaced, and diversity of 

species shall also be maintained where essential to preserving a wooded area or habitat.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 3. 
Details of Finding: The arborist has identified three regulated trees west of the proposed 
site for the CNG compound which are within SW Garden Acres Road right-of-way. The 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’ Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Republic Services Expansion DB15-0051 through DB15-0053 and 0057   Page 45 of 45 
 

applicant is not proposing on-site tree replacement since he is proposing payment to the 
City’s Tree Fund for tree mitigation. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.04) Replacement Tree Stock Requirements 
 
D12. Review Criteria: “All trees to be planted shall consist of nursery stock that meets requirements of 

the American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) American Standards for Nursery Stock (ANSI 
Z60.1) for top grade.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Plant materials shall be installed according to best industry standards. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.05) Replacement Trees Locations 
 
D13. Review Criteria: “The City shall review tree relocation or replacement plans in order to provide 

optimum enhancement, preservation and protection of wooded areas.  To the extent feasible and 
desirable, trees shall be relocated or replaced on-site and within the same general area as trees 
removed.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is not proposing on-site tree replacement since he is 
proposing payment to the City’s Tree Fund for tree mitigation. 

 



Development Review (DB15-0052 – Republic Services CNG).doc  

August 31, 2015 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT MEMORANDUM 
 

 

To: Blaise Edmonds, Manager of Current Planning 

 

From: Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Program Manager 

 

Date:  August 31, 2015                                         

 

RE: Industrial Development (DB15-0052 – Republic Services CNG Fueling Station) 

 

 

This memorandum includes staff conditions of approval. The conditions of approval are based on 

the submitted Stage I Master Plan Revision, Stage II Final Plan and Site Design Review. The 

conditions of approval apply to the applicant’s submittal of construction documents (i.e., 

engineering drawings).  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

 

The following conditions of approval are based on the material submitted by the applicant. Any 

subsequent revisions to the submitted plans may require conditions of approval to be modified by 

staff. 

 

Stormwater Management 

  

1. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards, source controls are required 

for fuel dispensing facilities.  

 

Other 

 

2. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s Ordinance No. 482, the applicant shall submit an 

erosion and sedimentation control plan. The following techniques and methods shall be 

incorporated, where necessary:  

 

a. Gravel construction entrance; 

b. Stockpiles and plastic sheeting; 

c. Sediment fence; 

d. Inlet protection (Silt sacks are recommended); 

e. Dust control;  

f. Temporary/permanent seeding or wet weather measures (e.g. mulch);  

g. Limits of construction; and 

h. Other appropriate erosion and sedimentation control methods. 

 

swhite
Stamp



Development Review (DB15-0052 – Republic Services CNG).doc  

August 31, 2015 

 

2 

3. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements for the 

proposed construction activities and proposed facilities (e.g., DEQ NPDES #1200–C 

permit).  

 



 

   “Serving the community with pride” 

CCiittyy  ooff  

WWIILLSSOONNVVIILLLLEE  
OORREEGGOONN  

Community Development 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
Wilsonville, OR  97070 

Phone 503-682-4960 
Fax 503-682-7025 
TDD 503-682-0843 
Web www.ci.wilsonville.or.us 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

September 1, 2015 
 

Attn: Pamela Pullen 

Clean Energy 

4675 MacArthur Ct.  

Suite 800 

Newport Beach, CA 92660 
 
 

RE:  CNG Fueling Facility  

Willamette Resources, Inc. Wilsonville  

 Request for Waiver of Traffic Study 

 

Dear Ms. Pullen, 
 

This letter is in response to your request for approval of a waiver of the requirement for a traffic 

impact study (Study) in association with the proposed Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) Fueling 

Facility at the Willamette Resources, Inc. site in Wilsonville Oregon. 

 

In the information provided in an email by Ben Altman, Pioneer Design Group, dated September 

1, 2015, it was stated that the proposed CNG Fueling Facility is anticipated to have no effect on 

trip generation as Republic Services plans to replace 30 of its diesel waste hauling trucks with 

CNG fueled trucks.  It is understood that this work not alter the total number of trucks in the fleet 

(58), that there will be no change from the two existing access driveways onto Ridder Road, and 

virtually no change in trip generation is expected as the site improvements only affect on-site 

circulation, parking and container storage.  Therefore, no PM Peak Hour impacts are anticipated 

to the City’s transportation network. 

    

Based on the above findings, a recommendation to waive the Study will be forwarded to the 

Development Review Board (DRB).  Irrespective of the Staff recommendation to waive the 

analysis, the DRB may determine that a Study is necessary to make a recommendation or 

decision concerning the proposed project.  A copy of this letter is being forwarded to the 

Planning Division and will be entered into the application file. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Nancy Kraushaar, P.E. 

Community Development Director 
 

 

cc: Chris Neamtzu, Planning Director 

 Steve Adams, Development Engineer Manager 

 Ben Altman, Senior Planner, Pioneer Design Group 

swhite
Stamp



Land se A eplicatio

Repu elic rvi S
liii 28281~

BY:

Solid W ste Transfer tation

Modified Stag I Ma ter Plan, with
evised Phasing Schedule; nd

2015 Modified Phase 2, Expan ion Pla ~
including:

Stage II Final Development Plans and
Site Design Review for CNG Fueling Station

June 26, 2015, REVISED August 28, 2015

APPLICANT/OWNER:
Republic Services
10295 SW Ridder Road
Wilsonville, OR 97070
Contact: Eric Anderson, Controller
EAnderson(~republicservices.com
503-404-2124

APPLICANT’S REPRESENTATIVES:

PROJECT MANAGER - Design/Build:
Clean Energy
4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 800
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Contact: Kent Falk
Kent.Fa1k~cIeanenergyfue1s.com
949-437-1000

Pioneer Design Group - Planning and Civil Engineering
9020 SW Washington Square Dr., Suite 170
Portland, OR 97223
Contact: Ben Altman
baltman(~pd-grp.com
503-643-8286 Dir. 971-708-6258

City of il in ille

swhite
Stamp







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Compliance Narrative 































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Arborist Report 





































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Storm Drainage 
Supplemental Report 































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lighting Details 















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Color Board 









 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tax Map 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reduced Plans 























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prior Approval 





























































swhite
Stamp





















DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2015 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

VIII. Board Member Communications:    
A.  Agenda Results from the July 27, 2015 DRB Panel 

B meeting 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Wilsonville 

Development Review Board Panel B Meeting 
Meeting Results 

DATE:    JULY 27, 2015 
LOCATION:  29799 SW TOWN CENTER LOOP EAST, WILSONVILLE, OR 
TIME START:      6:31 P.M. TIME END: 9:34 P.M.  

ATTENDANCE LOG 

BOARD MEMBERS STAFF 
Aaron Woods  Blaise Edmonds 

Cheryl Dorman Barbara Jacobson 

Richard Martens Chris Neamtzu 

Shawn O’Neil Nancy Kraushaar 

 Eric Mende 

City Council Liaison: Julie Fitzgerald Daniel Pauly 

 Mike Ward 

 Jennifer Scola 

 
AGENDA RESULTS 

AGENDA ACTIONS 

CITIZENS’ INPUT None. 

  

CONSENT AGENDA  

A. Approval of minutes of the June 22, 2015 meeting 
 
 

B. Resolution No. 308.  Tonquin Meadows No. 2 Five (5) Year Temporary 
Use Permit:  Stacy Connery, Pacific Community Design, Inc. – 
Representative for Polygon at Villebois III, LLC (Polygon Northwest) – 
Owner/Applicant. The applicant is requesting approval of a five-year 
Temporary Use Permit for a sales office and model homes in the 
Tonquin Meadows No. 2 at Villebois subdivision, along with associated 
parking, landscaping and other improvements.  The site is located on 
Tax Lot 2919, Section 15, T3S-R1W, Clackamas County; Wilsonville, 
Oregon.    Staff:  Jennifer Scola. 
 
Case File:   DB15-0050 – Five (5) Year Temporary Use Permit 
 

A. Approved as presented with 
Cheryl Dorman abstaining 

 
B. Unanimously approved 

Resolution No. 308 

PUBLIC HEARING  

A. Resolution 309.   West Linn-Wilsonville School District (Advance Road 
School): Mr. Keith Liden, AICP, Bainbridge – Representative for West 
Linn-Wilsonville School District – Applicant/Owner.  The applicant is 
requesting approval of an Annexation, Zone Map Amendment from 
Clackamas County - Exclusive Farm Use (EFU) to City - Public Facility (PF) 
Zone and Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ), Comprehensive 
Plan Map Amendment from Clackamas County – Agriculture 
Designation to City – Public Designation, and Stage I Preliminary 

A. Unanimously approved 
Resolution No. 309 with added 
Exhibits B5, D2, and D3 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Plan for a 30 acre site including two schools and a 10 acre 
site for a future City park. The subject site is located on Tax Lots 2000, 
2300, 2400 and 2500 of Section 18, Township 3 South, Range 1 East, 
Willamette Meridian, City of Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon.  
Staff:  Blaise Edmonds. 
 
Case Files: DB15-0046 – Annexation 
   DB15-0047 – Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment 
   DB15-0048 – Zone Map Amendment 
   DB15-0049 – Stage I Preliminary Plan 
 
The DRB action on the Annexation, Comprehensive Plan Map 
Amendment and Zone Map Amendment is a recommendation to the 
City Council. 
   
B. Resolution No. 310.  Wilsonville Subaru Dealership:  Robert 

Lanphere Jr., BL & DJ LLC – Owner.  The applicant is requesting 
approval of a Stage I Preliminary Plan, Stage II Final Plan, Site Design 
Review, Class 3 Sign Permit and Sign Area Waiver, Type ‘C’ Tree Plan 
and Waivers for a Subaru Dealership.   The site is located on Tax Lot 
100, Section 23AC; T3S-R1W, Clackamas County; Wilsonville, 
Oregon.    Staff:  Daniel Pauly. 

 
Case Files:  DB15-0024 – Stage I Preliminary Plan 
   DB15-0025 – Stage II Final Plan 
   DB15-0026 – Site Design Review 
   DB15-0027 – Class 3 Sign Permit and Sign Area Waiver 
   DB15-0028 – Type C Tree Removal Plan 
   DB15-0045 – Class 3 Waivers 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B. Unanimously approved 
Resolution No. 310 as presented 

BOARD MEMBER COMUNICATIONS None. 

A. Results of the July 13, 2015 DRB Panel A meeting  

STAFF COMMUNICATIONS None. 

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2015 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

VIII. Board Member Communications:    
B.  Agenda Results from the August 24, 2015 DRB 

Panel B meeting 
 



City of Wilsonville 

Development Review Board Panel B Meeting 
Meeting Results 

DATE:    AUGUST 24, 2015 
LOCATION:  29799 SW TOWN CENTER LOOP EAST, WILSONVILLE, OR 
TIME START:      6:30 P.M. TIME END: 8:49 P.M.  

ATTENDANCE LOG 

BOARD MEMBERS STAFF 
Aaron Woods  Barbara Jacobson 
Dianne Knight  Blaise Edmonds 
Cheryl Dorman Steve Adams 
Shawn O’Neil Daniel Pauly 
Richard Martens  

 
AGENDA RESULTS 

AGENDA ACTIONS 
CITIZENS’ INPUT None. 
  
CONSENT AGENDA  

A. Approval of July 27, 2015 Minutes A. Approved as presented with 
Dianne Knight abstaining 

PUBLIC HEARING  
A. Resolution No. 311. Trocadero Park – Villebois Regional Park – 5:  

Stacy Connery, AICP, Pacific Community Design – representative for 
Polygon at Villebois III, LLC, City of Wilsonville and Chang Family – 
owners. The applicant is requesting approval of a SAP Modification, a 
Preliminary Development Plan Modification and Final Development 
Plan for development of Trocadero Park – Villebois  Regional Park 5 (RP-
5).  Properties involved are Tax Lots 800, 900, 1100, Section 15 and Tax 
Lot 542, Section 15AB, Township 3 South, Range 1 West, Willamette 
Meridian, City of Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon. Staff: Daniel 
Pauly. 

 
Case Files:    DB15-0054 – Specific Area Plan Modification 

          DB15-0055 – Preliminary Development Plan Modification 
          DB15-0056 – Final Development Plan 

A. Approved with amendments to 
the Staff report in new Exhibit A3, 
additional Exhibits C3, C4, B4, and 
B5, and a recommendation that 
Staff consider parking issues as 
part of the traffic study for the 
future development north of 
Palermo Street. 

BOARD MEMBER COMUNICATIONS None. 
  
STAFF COMMUNICATIONS Staff noted recent Council approvals 

 


	Wilsonville City Hall
	29799 SW Town Center Loop East
	Wilsonville, Oregon
	III. Roll Call
	V. City Council Liaison Report
	STAFF REPORT
	WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION

	COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP DESIGNATION: Industrial
	ZONE MAP CLASSIFICATION: PDI (Planned Development Industrial)
	STAFF REVIEWERS:  Blaise Edmonds, Manager of Current Planning
	Steve Adams PE, Development Engineering Manager
	Kerry Rappold, Natural Resource Program Manager
	REQUEST C DB15-0053 Site Design Review for Phase 2.
	Planned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments
	Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial (PDI). The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned d...
	Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development Application
	Details of Finding: The land included in the current application is under the single ownership of Republic Services and an authorized representative, Eric Anderson, has signed the application.
	Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments
	Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant�s submitted materials, appropriate professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Mr. Ben Altman of Pioneer Design Group has been designated the coordinator for the plannin...
	Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process
	Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned develop...
	Subsection 4.140 (.06) Stage I Master Plan Consistent with Comprehensive Plan
	Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station, as found elsewhere in this report, complies with the Planned Development Industrial zoning designation, which implements the Comprehensive Plan designation of �Industrial� for this property. All ot...
	Subsection 4.140 (.07) Stage I Master Plan Application Requirements and Hearing Process
	Details of Finding: Review of the proposed Stage I Master Plan revision has been scheduled for a public hearing before the Development Review Board in accordance with this subsection and the applicant has met all the applicable submission requirements...
	Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station use is consistent with the purpose of the PDI zone as it includes an industrial service operation as well as associated and supportive use.
	Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations
	Details of Finding: As noted in these findings and the associated Stage I/II and Site Design Review application information, the proposal is being reviewed in accordance with Section 4.140.
	Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone
	Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station use includes the following listed in this subsection: �motor vehicle services�. The existing recycling operation is permitted industrial use in the PDI zone.
	Subsection 4.135 (.05) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone
	Planned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments
	Details of Finding: The 1.93 acre site is less than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. The property will be developed as a component of a planned development in acc...
	Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development Application
	Details of Finding: The 1.93 acres included in the proposed Stage II Final Plan revision is under the single ownership of Republic Services and an authorized representative, Mr. Eric Anderson, has signed the application.
	Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments
	Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant�s submitted materials, appropriate professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Mr. Ben Altman of Pioneer Design Group has been designated the coordinator for the plannin...
	Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process
	Details of Finding: The subject 1.93 acres is less than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned developm...
	Subsection 4.118 (.01) Additional Height Guidelines
	Subsection 4.118 (.02) Underground Utilities
	Subsection 4.118 (.03) Waivers
	Subsection 4.118 (.05) Requirements to Set Aside Tracts for Certain Purposes
	Details of Finding: The proposed CNG fueling station use is consistent with the purpose of the PDI zone as they include industrial operations as well as associated and supportive uses.
	Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations
	Details of Finding: As described in the findings for this request and associated Stage I /II and Site Design Review requests, the proposed CNG fueling station use is being reviewed in accordance with Section 4.140.
	Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone
	Details of Finding: The proposed uses include the following listed in this subsection: E. �Motor vehicle services, or other services complimentary or incidental to primary uses, and which support the primary uses by allowing more efficient or cost-eff...
	Subsection 4.135 (.04) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone
	Subsection 4.135 (.05) Industrial Performance Standards
	Subsection 4.135 (.06) Other PDI Standards

	On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 1. Continuous Pathway System
	Explanation of Finding: As noted above, the existing site layout presents significant challenges to provide safe and direct connections. Pedestrian facilities were provided in the area of the site for the recent maintenance building development in Pha...
	Subsection 4.155 (.02) General Parking Provisions
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) A. Functional Design of Parking, Loading, and Delivery Areas
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) C. Parking and Loading Areas-Safe and Convenient Access
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) G. Parking Minimum and Maximum
	Twelve (12) additional parking spaces were constructed along the north side of the property near the maintenance building to satisfy the minimum requirement. These parking spaces will be temporary as the parking requirements will be fully met with the...
	Applicant�s Table 3
	2015 proposed parking, with CNG Fueling
	For the proposed CNG fueling station vehicle and bicycle parking requirements is none because no structure is involved.
	For Phase 3 the parking requirement is:
	Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress

	Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 1. General Landscape Standards-Intent
	Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 2. General Landscape Standards-Required Materials
	Subsection 4.176 (.02) E. 2. High Screen Standard-Required Materials
	Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations
	Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening
	Subsection 4.176 (.09) Landscape Plans
	Site Design Review
	Subsection 4.400 (.01) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness of Design, Etc.
	Section 4.420 Site Design Review-Jurisdiction and Power of the Board
	Subsection 4.421 (.01) Site Design Review-Design Standards
	Section 4.156 Signs

	Subsection 4.176 (.02) E. 2. High Screen Standard-Required Materials
	Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations
	Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) A. Plant Materials-Shrubs and Groundcover
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) C. Plant Materials-Large Buildings
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) D. Plant Materials-Street Trees
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) E. Types of Plant Species
	Section 4.610.40 (.02) Submission of Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan
	Subsection 4.620.00 (.01) Tree Replacement Requirement
	Subsection 4.620.00 (.02) Basis for Determining Replacement
	Subsection 4.620.00 (.03) Replacement Tree Requirements
	Subsection 4.620.00 (.04) Replacement Tree Stock Requirements
	Subsection 4.620.00 (.05) Replacement Trees Locations



	Application
	Compliance Narrative
	Arborist Report
	Storm Drainage Supplemental Report
	Lighting Details
	Color Board
	Tax Map
	Reduced Plans
	Prior Approval



